Technical and Bibliographic Notes / Notes techniques et bibliographiques

Canadiana.org has attempted to obtain the best copy available for scanning. Features of this copy which may be bibliographically unique, which may alter any of the images in the reproduction, or which may significantly change the usual method of scanning are checked below.

Canadiana.org a numérisé le meilleur exemplaire qu'il lui a été possible de se procurer. Les détails de cet exemplaire qui sont peut-être uniques du point de vue bibliographique, qui peuvent modifier une image reproduite, ou qui peuvent exiger une modification dans la méthode normale de numérisation sont indiqués ci-dessous.

	Coloured covers / Couverture de couleur		Coloured pages / Pages de couleur
	Covers damaged / Couverture endommagée		Pages damaged / Pages endommagées
	Covers restored and/or laminated / Couverture restaurée et/ou pelliculée		Pages restored and/or laminated / Pages restaurées et/ou pelliculées
	Cover title missing / Le titre de couverture manque		Pages discoloured, stained or foxed/ Pages décolorées, tachetées ou piquées
	Coloured maps /		Pages detached / Pages détachées
	Cartes géographiques en couleur		Showthrough / Transparence
	Coloured ink (i.e. other than blue or black) / Encre de couleur (i.e. autre que bleue ou noire)		Quality of print varies / Qualité inégale de l'impression
	Coloured plates and/or illustrations / Planches et/ou illustrations en couleur		Includes supplementary materials /
	Bound with other material / Relié avec d'autres documents		Comprend du matériel supplémentaire
	Only edition available / Seule édition disponible		Blank leaves added during restorations may appear within the text. Whenever possible, these have been omitted from scanning / II se peut que certaines pages blanches ajoutées lors d'une
\checkmark	Tight binding may cause shadows or distortion along interior margin / La reliure serrée peut causer de l'ombre ou de la distorsion le long de la marge intérieure.		restauration apparaissent dans le texte, mais, lorsque cela était possible, ces pages n'ont pas été numérisées.
V	Additional comments / Continuous pagin Commentaires supplémentaires:	ation.	

Educational Journal.

Consolidating "THE EDUCATIONAL WEEKLY" and "THE CANADA SCHOOL JOURNAL."

Vol. III.

· TORONTO, DECEMBER 16, 1889.

No. 15.

The Educational Journal.

Published Semi-monthly.

JOURNAL DEVOTED TO LITERATURE, SCIENCE, ART, AND THE ADVANCEMENT OF THE TRACHING PROFESSION IN CANADA.

J. E. WELLS, M.A. H. HOUGH, M.A.

Manager Educational Dep't

Terms: One dollar and fiftycents per annum. Clubs of three, \$4.25; clubs of five, \$6.75. Larger clubs, in associations, sent through association officials, \$1.25. Individual members, subscribing at a different time from that of the formation of the Club, may send their

subscriptions to this office. Their orders will be taken at club rates.

New subscriptions may begin at any time. Payment, when by mail, should be made by post-office order or registered letter. Money sent in unregistered letters will be at the risk of the senders.

In case it may be necessary to make change, please

send it in one-cent stamps.

The date at the right of the name on the address label shows to what date the subscription is paid. The change of this date to a later one is a receipt for

Renewals of all subscriptions should be made

promptly.

Subscribers addressing the office on any business will, in all cases, please give the names of the post-offices to which their papers are being sent at the time of writing.

Rates of advertising will be sent on application.

Business communications should be addressed to the publishers; those relating to matter for insertion in the paper, to the editor. These distinct matters should always be treated on separate sheets of paper.

PUBLISHED BY

THE GRIP PRINTING AND PUBLISHING CO. TORONTO, CANADA.

T. G. WILSON.

Table of Contents.

	AGE
EDITORIAL NOTES	229
EDUCATIONAL THOUGHT	230
SPECIAL PAPER	- ,-
Influence	231
EDUCATIONAL MEETINGS-	-3*
Durham Teachers' Association	231
East Bruce Teachers' Association	231
North Simcoe Teachers' Association	232
CORRESPONDENCE—	232
The Curriculum for Matriculation	
Professional Juvenility	233 233
EXAMINATION PAPERS—	-33
East Middlesex and Kent Promotion and Review Exami-	
nation, Nov., 1889	234
and Glengarry	234
HINTS AND HELPS—	
Rewards	235
Not a Playroom	235
The Utility of Drawing The Teaching Process	235
EDITORIAL—	235
The Dickens Premium Professor Goldwin Smith on Education	236
Secularization of the Schools	236 236
LITERARY NOTES	
QUESTION DRAWER.	236
ELOCUTIONARY DEPARTMENT-	237
Elecution in the Public Schools	238
FOR FRIDAY AFTERNOON—	
Falling Leaves The Song of the Spinning Wheel	238 238
Primary Department—	
How we Cured the Restless Feet	239 239
	1

Editorial Notes.

Do all your teacher friends take the Educa-TIONAL JOURNAL? If any do not, how can you render them a better service than by inducing them to try it for 1890?

WE regret to be obliged to cut down so ruthlessly the reports of the various Teachers' Associations, but "no law is stronger than necessity." Many of the papers and discussions are useful and interesting, and would be more so in fuller synopses. But these meetings are so numerous that we have no alternative. After doing our best by way of condensation, we sometimes find ourselves falling sadly into arrears in our attempts to follow up the work of the Institutes.

As we approach the threshold of a new year. the mind naturally looks forward and forms plans and resolutions for the future. Grant that these plans and resolutions are seldom carried out to the letter, they are no subject for ridicule. The man or woman is the better for having seriously made them, and will almost surely do better work and reach a higher plane than if they had not been made. He who aims at the moon shoots much higher, as quaint old George Herbert says, "than if he meant a tree." One of the best resolutions any teacher can form is to study the educational journals and whatever else may help him to use better methods and do better work in the school-room.

Don't miss the opportunity to get a copy of the bound volume of School Work and Play, It is a book of 96 pages, amply illustrated, and neatly bound. That the character of its contents is such as to meet the approval of teachers and pupils is abundantly proved by the favor with which the publication was regarded on all hands. In fact, it was one of the most entertaining and instructive little papers ever put into the hands of children; and those who have not secured a copy of the book containing the first twelve issues should do so without delay, as the balance of the edition is limited. It would be a capital book to circulate amongst children at Christmas. The price is only 10 cents, of which 4 cents is expended in postage, prepaid by the publishers. Send at once.

THERE is good sale for the book, "Practical Problems in Arithmetic," which gives 700 such questions, all properly arranged, and all of a character to interest the pupil as well as to save the labor of the teacher. The price is only 25 cents and it will last forever. Another "labor-sion is worthy of imitation,

saving" book is "One Hundred Lessons in English Composition," for all the forms in the Public Schools in which such work is done, and for the junior forms of the High Schools. It renders unnecessary any preparation of exercises by the over-worked teacher, and furnishes a practical and properly graded course for a full year's work. Price, only 25 cents. Send 50 cents to the Grip Printing and Publishing Co., and receive both of the above useful books post paid by return mail.

In our correspondence columns will be found a communication from Principal Garvin, of Woodstock, giving the facts and figures on which his statements, on which we commented in last issue, in reference to the average age of the teachers in the Public Schools of Ontario, were based. Without the slightest disrespect for the members of this youthful army-rather with a degree of admiration for the ability and pluck which have pushed them to the front-we consider this by far the most serious educational problem now awaiting solution in the Province. As we have before intimated, if there were only some good reason to hope that these young teachers would remain in the profession, the matter would soon right itself. But there's the Unless some change is made, these teachers, as they approach the period of highest efficiency, will in their turn be crowded out by fresh juvenile recruits, and the benefit of their professional experience be lost to the country. The remedies suggested by Mr. Garvin are worthy of full consideration and discussion.

THE Orillia Packet of a recent date gives an interesting résumé of a discussion on the question of temperance-teaching in schools which recently took place in that town. The occasion was a supper given by the Church of England Temperance Society to the High and Public School teachers and trustees and other citizens interested in the question. Some difference of opinion was of course elicited with reference to the extent to which it might be advisable to add scientific temperance instruction to the already over-crowded school curricula. But there was almost complete unanimity in regard to the desirability of impressing upon the minds of the children at a very early age the truth concerning the physical and moral effects of intemperance. Several teachers had found that even young children understood lectures based upon Richardson's Temperance Lesson Book, and the majority approved of having the subject taught in every department, and so through all grades of the schools. The method adopted by the Society which gave the luncheon and invited the discus-

THE attention of those interested is specially invited to Mr. Houston's letter in another column.

THE glad Christmas time is near at hand. It is a good time to forget the mistakes and shortcomings of the past, and to take anew to the heart the gospel of progress and hope. May all our readers be enabled to enter fully into the spirit of the season, and enjoy both the sacred memories and the blessed hopes with which this best of all anniversaries is fraught. A merry Christmas—it is only the pure heart, the clear conscience and the right purpose which can make our hearts truly merry-A merry Christmas to you all!

A SUBSCRIBER in Nova Scotia writes to ask for information and suggestions in reference to promotion examinations. . We give this week among our Examination Questions some specimens of the questions set at recent promotion examinations. We do not know to what to refer our subscriber for the fuller information he seeks. We presume he wishes to know the opinions of practical teachers who have tried the system as to its workings and results. question is frequently discussed at the Teachers' Associations. Perhaps some teacher who has paid attention to the matter would kindly give us the pros and cons in a short article or two. Many readers of the Journal would no doubt be interested.

TEACHERS of large ungraded schools are often sorely puzzled to know how to keep the younger children employed, or rather amused, during the long school hours. It is absurd to expect children of six or eight years to study five or six hours a day, or even half that time; and cruel to try to force them to do so. On the other hand, unemployed brains are sure to make disorder and mischief. One of the most useful devices is a box of letters, such as can be procured for a few cents, for the game of word making, or even manufactured out of thick paper or card board. Most children, with a little guidance, will find a fruitful source of amusement in combining the letters into words and short sentences, and will thus really be learning to spell and compose while amusing themselves. This is only one of many similar methods which the skilful teacher will adopt to keep the active little minds pleasantly and profitably busy.

In his report to the Minister of Education for 1887, Inspector Tilley spoke favorably of a system of management that is said to have been used for some years in the Port Hope Public Schools, with excellent results. The chief feature of the plan is that the Principal is relieved from all class teaching, and thus enabled to give his whole time to supervising the work of teaching in all the rooms of the school. The idea promoted until every man and woman who will, seems a good one for all the larger schools. It shall have constantly before them the open door is clearly impossible for the Principal, who has to some efficient evening school. No class of to spend most of the day in teaching classes, to persons can do more than teachers to forward know very much about the kind of work done this movement.

in the other class-rooms. Principal Garvin, of the Woodstock Public Schools, recently recommended the method to the Woodstock Board. but we have not heard whether his recommendation was adopted. Some of the advantages of the method are thus described by Inspector Tilley:

"Under this system uniformity in methods of teaching can be secured in all the divisions, the Principal can give his individual attention to Model School work during the term, and the senior division is spared the confusion which necessarily results from a change of teachers each second half-year."

Dr. Johnson is credited with having said, "I would rather have the rod to be the general terror to children, to make them learn, than tell a child, 'if you do this or that, you will be more esteemed than your brothers or sisters," and to have argued the point as follows:—" The rod produces an effect which terminates in itself. A child is afraid of being whipped, and gets his task, and there's an end on't; whereas by exciting emulation and comparisons of superiority, you lay the foundation of lasting mischief-you make brothers and sisters hate each other." The gruff old philosopher may have been right or wrong in his preference of one bad motive force to another. It does not seem to have occurred to him, or in fact many in his time, that there might be a more excellent way than either, one free from the moral objections of both methods. Is it a modern discovery that a thirst for knowledge is innate in a healthy mind, and that the child who is properly treated in early years will take to study as naturally and eagerly as to tempting fruit or athletic games? Have all our readers made the discovery for themselves?

THERE is something almost pathetic, as well as encouraging, in the accounts which appeared in the Montreal papers a few weeks since of the overwhelming rush of men and boys of the laboring classes in that city to the night schools. These crowds exceeded in numbers the most sanguine expectations of the promoters of the schools, and their cleanly appearance and respectful bearing, and their eagerness to gain admittance, were most encouraging. The Montreal Star well observed:

"Better than all is the evident moral motive which inspires these people. Without really knowing it, perhaps, they seek, as Descartes has said, to 'learn what is true, in order to do what is right.' At all events, the movement is good, and one of the very best signs of the times. thirst for knowledge is prompted by the hope of a higher, broader, deeper, more perfect life. Its gratification is as natural as any other human want, and since that gratification tends to make better workmen and better citizens, it elevates the general tone of the populace, and is, therefore, of the highest utility.'

The movement is a noble one and should be

Educational Thought.

It is a mistake for the teacher to try to drown he noise of his pupils by making a greater noise himself.-Inspector Hughes.

THE secret of real teaching is to teach pupils how to depend upon themselves. When you have taught a child to have confidence in its own ability you have put a useful weapon in its hands for future Too much explanation is certain to make warfare. the pupil helpless and lazy. We do not undervalue judicious explanation; that is essential and productive of excellent results; but we do condemn the habit some teachers have of doing a large share of the pupil's work for him through mistaken kindness or a wrong idea of what constitutes teaching. Wisconsin Journal.

THE grand doctrine of "every man for sale, in the name of the prophet, figs," will at all times fall rather flat on youthful ears. Is he to sit and toil day by day, and let the sun shine upon hill and and dale, and he not see it? and let it gleam along the rivers, and glance in and out of the forest trees with scattered joyousness, and he not see it? Is he to miss the freshness of the air, the games, and the thousand and one delights that pass glittering through the kaleidoscope of the boy mind, so fertile in fancy, so free? And all for what? On the chance, forsooth, that by and by, if he is lucky, he may fetch a high price in the world's auction Is he to strain, and strive, and use time, and energy, and brain, and starve his ravening for free enjoyment. and activity, and fun, only to put himself up to the highest bidder, and value his life by what other people think of it, and not by what it is worth to himself? This will not do. A thousand reasons, and tens of thousands of excuses, any one of them convincing to a mind so ready to be convinced, bid him answer boldly, "no:" and no" he does answer in practice, a final, invincible no." Education, if it is to be a prevailing power, must be something which the auctioneer's hammer cannot fix the value of, something that the highest bidder cannot buy, a gain in the man himself. The auctioneer's view will never command the hearts and lives of the young. "In the name of the prophet-figs-" is not a war-cry to stir the idle pulse, or give the coward nerve, even though the price be great, and the figs, the sweetness of Paradise. They are far off, very far off, to the boy, and the cry is as a voice in a dream, distant and dim. present is tempting, all cannot win, and high wages are not life. "Figs" have little charm for the eager foot standing on life's bright threshold with an untried world in front. A better spell must be found to conjure with than this. - Thring.

THERE is another spell, which many conjure with, and its power over some cannot be denied. It is a louder and fiercer cry, but not more true; though true, high feelings are often marshalled under it; and there is a noble side of human nature of which this parody of truth takes advantage, and reaps the benefit. The appeal to success, prizes and prize-winning, bids fair to be the watchword of the day. But what does this do for the majority, for the non-competing crowd; who nevertheless do not politely die off, and make room; and cannot through modern squeamishness, be killed off, and buried? There they are, and there they insist on remaining. The character of the appeal is noteworthy In what respect morally loes the strong arm differ from the strong head? Both are mere instruments of a power behind both that uses them. And what is a nation doing which calmly stands up and says, "We will only regard in our schools the breeding of the strong head; and we will give all our honor and power to the wielders of strength"! "Glory to the strong. Boys, whet your tusks, rush, tend, tear, win, make yourselves a name, be great." This is but the Vandal over again, and a swineherd's call. The worship of force, no doubt, is an idolatry of a more stirring kind than the greed for market price, but only the more deadly on this account. Glory to the strong on the reverse side of the shield is oppression to the weak. The weak are pushed into a corner, and neglected; their natural tendency to shrink from labor is educated into despair by their being constantly reminded, directlyor indirectly, that their labor is no good.—Thring.

Special Papers.

INFLUENCE.*

EVERY person exercises an influence for either good or evil. No man can live unto himself. may forget this secret, silent influence, but we are exerting it by our actions, by our words, and even by our very thoughts—and he is wise with a wisdom more than that of earth, who seeks to put forth the highest power for good wherever he is placed.

We throw a stone into a pond of water; it sinks

and that is all. No-it is not all. Look at those concentric rings widening until their influence is felt to the very shores of the pond. That stray word of pride or scorn, carelessly spoken, produced a momentary depression, and that was all. was not all. It awakened feelings of disgust at truth in some person, and it hardened another one's heart against what is pure. It produced an influence, though slight, yet eternal, on the destiny of a human

This power of influence is very great; it clings to

us, we cannot live without it.

Every person, old or young, has an influence for either good or evil; it cannot be neutral, it must be either on the side of right or on the side of wrong.

Even little children have an influence on those around them. How often do we hear of men, grown old in vice and sin, being touched by a word from a little child. Do we not all feel nearer to what is pure and holy when we are with little ones who are as yet undefiled by the world?

Influence never dies. Longfellow beautifully illustrates this great truth in these lines :-

shot an arrow in the air, It fell to earth—I knew not where. I breathed a song into the air, It fell on earth—I knew not where. Long, long afterwards, in an oak I found the arrow still unbroke. And the song, from beginning to end, I found again in the heart of a friend."

School children possess great influence over their fellows. In every school there are leaders who seem to be admired and looked up to by the others. How important it is to have these trustworthy and on the side of right! But too often we find the school heroes those most opposed to order and authority. We find many boys like Matthew authority. We find many boys like Matthew Arnold's Tom Brown, who seem to, as it were, rule the others, but, strange though it may seem, we find timid natures, like that of little Arthur, having a strong influence over even Tom Brown himself.

Young people have great influence over one other. How many are led astray through the

influence of evil companions!

The home has an unbounded influence over the future lives of those growing up in it. Our life abroad is but a reflex of what it is at home. most illustrious statesmen, the most distinguished warriors, the most eloquent ministers and the greatest philanthropists owe their greatness to the influence of home. Our influence is felt not only while we live, but our actions are repeated in the lives of those who live centuries after us.

The teacher has a very great influence in moulding the future lives of the young placed in his charge, and not only their lives, but the lives of those who will live after them. The teacher gives the first tone to the child's desires and furnishes ingredients that will either sweeten or embitter the whole cup of life, for the impressions received in childhood are durable. Bishop Simpson said: "The voices that spoke to me when a child are now speaking through me to the world." The child will imitate his teacher even in outward appearance. If a teacher is neat and tidy about his dress and personal appearance, the children will try to be the same, but if he is careless so are the children. The teacher who always has his books neatly arranged in his desk, will find that his pupils will follow his example. The teacher who goes quietly and carefully about his work will have quiet and careful pupils. is careless in the choice of his language, he will find his pupils habitual users of slang.

A teacher by example—not precept—can teach kindness and gentleness. If he shows respect for

*Essay read by Miss J. Campbell at the West Bruce Teachers'

the opinions of those around him, his pupils will do likewise. Often we find a backward pupil the object of the taunts and jeers of his fellows, and generally the cause of this is that he receives neither encouragement nor sympathy from his teacher. the teacher is always ready to help and defend the weak, he will have manly boys and girls.

A teacher should be strictly honest in all things, and when he discovers dishonesty he should always denounce it. If, for instance, a teacher is so anxious to have pupils promoted, that he is not very particular about the mode of examination, his pupils may be expected to grow up dishonest and deceit-

A teacher who always seems cheerful and happy when working will have cheerful workers. How pleasant it is to see the little faces smiling amid their work! What a contrast to the pupils under the care of the teacher whose aim seems to be to always appear grave, severe and dignified, and who is never seen to enjoy a hearty laugh with the boys and girls. When looking at him one wonders if he were ever a child, as he seems to have no sympathy for child nature. The pupils should have a love for and a confidence in their teacher, but if he is cold and distant, he will be regarded with dread and distrust.

The teacher should be very careful of the ideas he imparts to his pupils, for they adopt these as their own. Are not all our ideas of right and wrong in accordance with what we have been taught? Very few of us hold original opinions; they are all founded on those of others, and if through our influence wrong ideas are adopted by the children,

we must hold ourselves responsible. The teacher who shows a regard and reverence for things pure and holy will have his pupils do the same. We have daily opportunities to imprint on their minds a proper sense of true greatness. Books have a great influence on the minds of the children. We cannot all-like Harriet Beecher Stowe-write books that will enlighten and elevate their minds. but we can direct and superintend their reading. Often it is through the influence of the teacher that young men and women choose a profession. Were it not for the influence of Samuel Bates, a poor country school teacher, James Garfield would have been a sailor, and in all probability not President of the United States. Besides having a direct influence on the pupils, the teacher exerts an influence for good or evil on the whole community; his manner and actions are imitated, and what a blessing it is when he stands boldly on the side of right!

Fellow-teachers, our influence is great; we do not realize it, but may we do our utmost to have it for good; it will be evil unless we work from pure motives. Our influence over our pupils will be greater if we first secure their love, and we must remember that as we act to them so will they act to us.

"We can never be too careful What the seed our hands shall sow; Love from love is sure to ripen, Hate from hate is sure to grow."

How carefully we should guard our words and actions, for these will be repeated by others after we have long passed away. The eternal destiny of some of the little ones may depend on what we are when with them.

Let us go on doing our duty, and then at last, if we have proved faithful, we shall hear the words, "Well done, good and faithful servant, enter thou into the joy of thy Lord."

Educational Meetings.

DURHAM TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION.

(Condensed from the West Durham News.)

THE annual meeting of the teachers of this county vas held in Bowmanville school, on the 10th and 1th of October. The President, Mr. Chas. Keith, 11th of October. occupied the chair.

The first subject, "Public School Time Table,' was introduced by Mr. F. C. Philp, of Canton Public School. In a carefully prepared and well delivered address, he pointed out the advantages of following a well arranged time-table, but would admit an occasional deviation. Mr. Wood, of the Model School, Port Hope, in continuing the discussion, advised keeping pretty close to the time-table.

Mrs. J. L. Hughes, of Toronto, next addressed the Association on "The Kindergarten." Many friends of education assembled with the teachers to listen to Mrs. Hughes, who gave two addresses of about an hour each. The subject was a new one to a Bowmanville audience, and all were delighted with the pleasing, clear and forcible way in which the subject was treated, as well as with the principles underlying the Kindergarten.

Dr. Purslow, headmaster of Port Hope High School, read an able paper on "How the Difference Between Prose and Verse may be Taught to Fourth Class Pupils." The paper was full of useful hints. and being eminently practical, was much appreciated by the teachers.

The last hour of Thursday's session was given to the Public School trustees as an opening occasion

for the new school buildings.

The evening session, Thursday, was held in the Fown Hall. Mr. Cringan, of Toronto, gave a very pleasant hour's talk to a large and appreciative audience on "Voice Culture," adding interest to his

remarks by exhibiting a number of vocal diagrams.

Mr. D. Boyle, Toronto, followed with his instructive lecture on "Persistency of Savagery in Civilization."

On Friday, the first hour of the afternoon was occupied by Mr. Cringan in teaching the tonic solfa system to the Convention. All were delighted with the system and with Mr. Cringan's happy way

of teaching it.

Mr. M. M. Fenwick, M.A., headmaster of Bowmanville High School, gave pleasing variety to the exercises by conducting a lesson in Public School literature. The Association was his class, and the "Death of the Flowers" his lesson.

Mr. R. A. Lee, of the Port Hope Public School, followed with a well written paper on "History—A Patriotic Force in Schools," which led to some severe criticisms on our Public School text book on

"Junior Arithmetic" was discussed by Dr. Tilley, from the standpoint of his experience as Inspector.

Resolutions were passed: (1) Condemning the Public School history, and asking for its withdrawal as a text book; (2) Favoring the tonic sol-fa system of music, and asking for the authorisation of "The Canadian Music Course;" (3) Condemning the action of the County Council in placing a fee of \$1 upon such candidates for the entrance examination as had failed at a previous examination.

Messrs. Keith and Wood were appointed delegates to the Provincial Association, and the following were elected officers:—President, R. A. Lee; 1st Vice-President, R. D. Davidson; 2nd Vice-President, M. M. Fenwick, M.A.; Secretary, Miss Ada Haliday; Treasurer, Jas. Gilfillan.

The meeting of the Association was a very suc-

cessful one, both as to the number in attendance and the value of the papers read, and discussions entered into.

EAST BRUCE TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION.

THE regular meeting of this Association was held in the Chesley Public School on Thursday and Friday, Oct. 24th and 25th, the President, Mr. Keith, in the chair.

About forty teachers were present at the morning

scssion on Thursday, and about seventy-five attended the remaining sessions.

The President delivered his opening address, taking for his subject "Our Profession." He showed the nobleness of the teacher's work, (1) because of the material on which he works, (2) because of the effect produced. A good deal of importance was placed on the development of a noble character, the speaker considering these qualities far superior to the acquisition of mere knowledge.

Mr. Clendenning added some thoughts suggested by the President's address, after which he explained necessary changes in the programme.

The Inspector called the attention of the teachers

to the revision of the Limit Table which was about to take place, based on the new text books On motion, the Inspector and Messrs. Telford

and S. G. King were appointed a committee to meet a corresponding committee from West Bruce on this

AFTERNOON SESSION.

"The Teacher in the School" was the subject of a very interesting and instructive paper by Mr.

Ferguson. The subject was treated under three heads: character, work, difficulties." Under the first head he showed that the teacher should attend to his own character, as the most forcible lessons he teaches are those he teaches by example. He is the guardian of the morals of his pupil, s and the teaching of Christian morals is a much higher duty than imparting a knowledge of Algebra, etc.

An animated discussion followed, participated in by Messrs. Clendenning, McKay, Reid, Johnston, Campbell, Telford, MacConnel and the President.

Mr. Morgan, head master of the Walkerton High School, being called on, took up the subject, "What to do and what not to do in Teaching English." He limited his remarks to Grammar. "Grammar was defined to be the science of the sentence." All other definitions should be rejected, and all matter not included in this definition belongs to some other department of knowledge. A word has to do with two things, its classification and its relation to other words. Anything taught outside of this he would treat as detached facts.

In answer to a question, Mr. Morgan stated that he would consider a pupil had parsed a word satisfactorily if its classification and its relation to the other words in the sentence were given, and he explained that this principle guided the examiners in Toronto this summer.

Very acceptable recitations were given during the Sessions by Miss Bowes and Mr. Evans.

A well attended meeting was held in the Town Hall in the evening. The entertainment consisted of music by the friends in Chesley, an address by the Rev. J. Ferguson, B.D., and readings and recitations by some of the teachers.

FRIDAY MORNING SESSION.

The question drawer was first taken up and the difficulties it contained having been disposed of, a lengthy discussion followed on the proposed New

A short but valuable paper on "Laziness and Inattention" was read by Mr. McCannell. The teacher should ascertain the cause; interest the pupil; should be energetic and sympathetic; should stir up ambition on the part of the pupil; should not confound dulness with laziness; should not encourage laziness by doing work for the pupil.

Miss Watson dealt with the subject of Calis-

thenics, showing how it should be taught, and for what classes it was best adapted; also that Calis-thenics play an important part in the formation of character.

character.

The next subject taken up was "What to Teach our Boys and Girls," and a very valuable paper was read thereon by Mr. Hicks. He considered the true aim of education to be the perfection of the individual. This could only be attained by attending to the threefold nature of pupils—the physical, the intellectual and the moral. the intellectual and the moral. Harmony in the development is absolutely necessary.

Miss Bremner took up the complex sentence, and in a clear, intelligent manner showed her method of teaching the subject. She would first teach the compound sentence, and preferred the names independent and dependent clauses to principle and subordinate. She would contrast the difference has of clauses and show wherein the difference lay. Attention would be called to the connectives, and she would place a good deal of importance on giving examples and exercises under each step.

Mr. A. Cameron read a paper entitled "Sugges-

tions for Teachers." This paper caught the ear of the Association perhaps better than any other paper read at the meeting, and after receiving merited applause, a motion was unanimously carried, requesting Mr. Cameron to permit his paper to be published in the EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL. (It will appear in an early issue.—Ed.)

Mr. Ferguson led in the discussion, which was kept up with vigor until the hour of adjournment, when, on motion, it was decided to meet again at one o'clock and continue the discussion for half an hour or more.

AFTERNOON SESSION.

The discussion of Mr. Cameron's paper was taken part in by Miss Quinn, and Messrs. Evans, Telford, Clendenning, Hall and Campbell. It was finally rererred to a committee consisting of Messrs. Telford, A. Cameron, Ferguson and McKay, and Misses A. Cameron, Ferguson and McKay, and Misses Quinn, Brenner and Millar. Subsequently this committee submitted a report containing three recommendations, (1) that the age for entering the Spotton, Esq., M.A., talked about entrance exam-

profession be raised to 21 years and 18 years for males and females respectively; (2) that the Model School term be extended to six months; (3) that literary work be abolished in all training schools, and that more time be devoted to the science and practice of teaching. The first recommendation was not approved of, but the others were carried unanimously

Miss Graham read a paper entitled "Friday Afternoon," containing many suggestions as to how the hours may be spent with pleasure and profit to the children. Among her recommendations were: to use Friday afternoon for review of the work, the review, however, to be different from ordinary work; to have recitations, chiefly patriotic; to have object lessons, or lessons in Botany, or Hygiene; reading interesting stories, that may afterwards be turned into language lessons, memory gems, Kindergarten songs, author days, etc., were all recommended.

Mr. Campbell, the delegate to the Provincial Teachers' Association, was called on for his report. He quoted from the EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL the chief resolutions passed, and explained their method

of doing business.

Mr. C. M. Cameron next took up the subject of spelling. Although the difficulties in connection with English spelling were very great, he saw no prospect of spelling reform becoming a reality, so that we must deal with the difficulties as they exist. Written spelling has taken the place of oral, because it is a better system. He considered mark ing and correcting the errors the most important

The next subject taken up was Geography, introduced by Mr. Telford. He explained why geography was taught, and showed that as the knowledge was valuable for its own sake, what was not valuable in this way should be discarded. More interesting knowledge about the country, its people and its productions, should be taught, and less physical geography in the form of bare facts.

The last subject on the programme, "Fifth Class Work in Public Schools," was introduced by Mr. was introduced by Mr. He strongly advocated the fifth class in Graham. the school, giving his reasons therefor, some of which are: the law recognizes the right of a pupil to attend school until he is 21 years of age; it will raise the standing of the teaching profession, and may be the solution of the salary question. will confer benefit on the teacher by increasing his importance and giving him a congenial field for the exercise of his intellectual faculties.

The following resolution was introduced and passed by the ladies of the Association:—"We, the lady teachers of East Bruce in convention assembled, consider that the Toronto Board of School Trustees deserve the thanks of the lady teachers of the Province for raising the salaries of their lady teachers on the ground of experience and ability. We hope in the interest of all concerned that their example may be followed by other Boards.'

NORTH SIMCOE TEACHERS' ASSOCIA-TION.

THE North Simcoe Teachers' Association met in the parochial school room, Barrie, on Nov. 14th; the President, J. C. Morgan, M.A., P.S.I., called the meeting to order.

Papers on the subject of "How Best to Extend and Improve a Pupil's Knowledge of His Mother-Tongue," were read by Misses Booth and Caldwell, and Mr. Merrill. Misses Booth and Caldwell taught classes, exemplifying their methods of treating the above subject.

Mr. T. McKee, Orillia, read a very able and in-structive paper on "Discipline."

Mr. Morgan laid great stress on the proper teaching of "Primary Classes." He then taught a class by the Phonic Method. Mr. Palk, also by Mr. Palk, also by means of the same class, showed his method of Phonic teaching.

The entertainment on Thursday evening in the parochial school house was well attended, and proved to be a fitting auxiliary to the convention. The Rev. Dr. Frazer occupied the chair and gave a short address. Addresses were also delivered by the Rev. J. F. German, whose remarks were very

ination improvements, and suggested that they be held annually instead of half yearly.

Pithy addresses were also given by Inspector McCague, of Algoma, and Principal Williams of the Collingwood Collegiate Institute. Morgan also spoke, giving an outline of remarks made bp the speakers and touched upon weak points of candidates sent for entrance examination, and the poor writing prevalent in the schools.

FRIDAY.

At 9.30 a.m. the President called the meeting to der. The minutes of the last meeting and Financial Report were read and adopted. Messrs. Sneath and Hunter reported on the doings at the Provincial Association. Mr. Rogers addressed the meeting on "Our Relation to the Central Association Through Our Delegates."

A motion was passed in favor of holding the next

meeting in Orillia.

The following officers were elected, viz :- President, Geo. McKee; Vice-President, Geo. Sneath; Secretary-Treasurer, Geo. Henderson; Committee of Management, Misses E. Lee, Overend and King, Messrs. Palk and Ward.

Delegates to the Provincial Association:—Inspector's Section, J. C. Morgan; High School Section, J. M. Hunter, M.A.; Alternative, A. Hay; Public School Section, J. Rogers; Alternative, J. H. Luck, A. Merrill; Auditors, Messrs. Young and Merrill.

Mr. Armstrong, by means of a class, showed the results of his method of teaching "The Difference of the Grammatical Value of the Same Word.

Mr. Williams, head master Collegiate Institute, Collingwood, explained how "Infinitives should be

Mr. Luck, Penetanguishene, took up the subject of "Methods of Dealing with Simple Rules of Arithmetic to Secure Rapid Work."

Resolutions were adopted recommending Canadian History, and that history only, for entrance examinations; condemning the present Public School History; favoring only one entrance examination in the Year; declaring that the amount of literature prescribed for entrance, especially for memorizing, is too great; and that there should be only one board of examiners for entrance in each county, and that composed of Inspectors, and of an equal number of High and Public School teachers.

SOUTH GREY TEACHERS' INSTITUTE.

(Condensed from the Flesherton Advance.)

THE twenty-fourth Convention of the Inspectoral Division of South Grey was held in the Model School, Durham, on the 3rd and 4th Oct. Owing to the unfavorable condition of the weather, however, the work was not begun until 2 p.m., when ex-President Ramage was called to the chair in the absence of Mr. Glendining.

Mr. Campbell was called upon to report the action

of the County Council in regard to promotion examination papers. He expressed great pleasure at the generous manner in which the Council acted in the matter of assuming the expense of printing, etc. Discussion followed as to the best time for holding the promotion examinations. The matter finally left with the Inspector.

Mr. Cowan made an eloquent and able address on the teaching of temperance in schools. While a strong advocate of temperance, he did not believe the work of inculcating temperance principles could be successfully done by the teacher or by following the plan outlined in the authorised text-book. objected to the additional work being imposed on teachers. The ministers were the proper persons to take up the subject. While all admired the outspoken character of Mr. Cowan's address, many took exception to his views, believing that the truly moral temperate teacher could do a great deal towards the development of the moral nature of a child.

M. W. Houston, M.A., Parliamentary Librarian, Toronto, was the acting director of the Association, and occupied during the two days upwards of five hours in the development of his methods in the practical, scientific and æsthetic treatment of English, commencing with a child on his first entrance to the school.

the other resident clergymen. Excellent music was furnished by the band, and several vocal selections were rendered in a very highly appreciated manner by the local talent of Durham. In addition to this we must not forget to mention the very creditable exhibition of club swinging by Master and Miss Sutherland. The lecturer of the evening, however. was Mr. W. Houston, on the topic "Reading for Recreation.

Friday forenoon Mr. Blakeston gave a lengthy address on school games, with reasons why such games should be more generally introduced. the various games mentioned, Mr. Blakeston thought foot ball to be the best adapted to the Public School, inasmuch as all could engage in the sport without much loss of time in choosing sides, etc.

Mr. Ramage read a very interesting and carefully prepared paper on the proceedings of the last meeting of the Ontario Teachers' Association, held in

August last at Niagara-on-the-lake.

The following officers were elected for the ensuing year :- Mr. Allen, President; Miss Sutherland, rist Vice-President; Mr. W. K. Reid, 2nd Vice-President; W. Irwin, Secretary-Treasurer; Committee of Management, Misses Adams and Bull, and Messrs. Brown, Sharp and another whose name we are unable to obtain.

Correspondence.

THE CURRICULUM FOR MATRICU-LATION.

To the Editor of the EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL:

SIR,-The Senate of the University of Toronto has ordered to be printed for circulation the draft of the new curriculum for junior matriculation. One or more copies of it will go to each High School and Collegiate Institute. The object in sending it out is to ascertain whether it is in all respects satisfactory before it is finally enacted, and this object will be defeated unless those to whom it is sent will take the trouble to communicate to the Senate their views upon the course thus provisionally set out. It will naturally be assumed that those who raise no objection to the curriculum, or make no suggestion for its improvement, are satisfied with it, while past experience proves that the absence of any ex-pression of opinion is frequently due to neglect. Every teacher into whose hands the draft comes should signify either his approval or disapproval of the whole scheme, or of any of its details, as the case may be. This is no more than fair to his own fraternity, and no more than courteous to the Senate, which is actuated by a sincere desire to put the matriculation work as nearly as possible into

the shape preferred by the secondary teachers.

It fell to my lot to preside over the deliberations of the special committee that was entrusted with the work of revising the Modern Language course, and in that connection there are a few points about which a general expression of opinion is peculiarly

desirable.

1. Are the texts prescribed in French and German satisfactory? I wish to call attention specially to Lamartine's "Christophe Colomb," about which there seems to be some difference of opinion.

2. Is it wise to make dictation in French and German obligatory on pass candidates? The committee were unanimously in favor of the view that

it is so.

- 3. Is the proposed re-arrangement of English subjects for examination an improvement, i.e., giving one whole division at examination to an essay, another to poetical literature, and the third to questions on passages not prescribed? The objects in view are (a) to give more prominence to composition as a test of English scholarship; (b) to leave the examiner free to confine his paper on poetical texts to such views of the selected passages as have an esthetic value, and (c) to discourage "cram" or "rote" teaching of grammar and rhetoric.
- 4. Are the English prose texts specified in the draft suitable for the purpose to which they are to devoted? The intention in making the selections is (a) to prescribe for the pupil a course of private reading with a purpose, the impulse to careful perusal being the knowledge that some of the subjects for composition will be taken from them; and (b)to furnish the teacher with at least two different the remedies that suggest themselves to me.

styles of English as a basis for the comparative study of style. It will be noticed that in each year an historical novel is accompanied with one or more "essays.

5. Are the English poetical texts the most ap propriate that could have been prescribed? It will be noticed that while the policy of having only one author for each year has been adhered to, a new departure has been taken with regard to the class of pieces selected. In the case of Cowper one book of the "Task" has been retained, and the place of the other book is taken by a miscellaneous group of minor poems, the whole amount of reading being considerably increased. The same remark applies to Byron, except that canto iv. of "Childe Harold" has been substituted for parts of canto ii. and canto Longfellow has been substituted for Coleridge, and the other two years are given up to Tennyson. With reference to this latter point, my own opinion is strongly in favor of giving one year to Wordsworth, from whose writings what I believe to be a very interesting and useful list of selections can be made. I find myself in good company in holding this opinion, as it was strongly held and con-stantly acted upon by the late Mr. Hudson, who has done more than any other one man to secure the general introduction of the study of poetical texts into the secondary schools of America and Canada, and to put teachers into the way of using them intelligently. The general idea of each year's work is to

memorization, or at least perusal frequent enough to ensure familiar acquaintance. In conclusion, let me once more urge upon all teachers the necessity of making such representations as they feel disposed to make. It is hard to get changes made after the course has been fixed by statute; it is easy to get them made now when opinions are solicited. All comments and sugges-

WM. HOUSTON.

have one longer poem for severe study, and many

shorter ones, of a lyric character when possible, for

tions, I need hardly say, should be sent to the Registrar of the University of Toronto.

TORONTO, Dec. 10, 1889.

PROFESSIONAL JUVENILITY.

To the Editor of the EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL:

In your last issue under the heading, "A Startling Indictment," your comment upon the state-ment made by me at the late convention of Oxford teachers, viz., that nearly three-fourths of the public school teachers of Ontario were under 21 years of age (by looking at my notes I see that it should have read, "22 years of age"), and you ask for the facts on which such a conclusion was They are as follows: based.

(a) In 1887 there were, according to the Minister's report of 1889, 3,865 public school teachers, out of 7,594, who possessed but third-class certifi-As that number is nearly 200 greater than cates. that of the year previous, I judge that the number possessing third-class certificates this year would not be less than 4,200. The total number of public school teachers in Ontario this year is probably

7,800. (b) In the statistics pertaining to County Model Schools we find that out of 1,072 "teachers-in-training," who attended the Model Schools in 1887, there were 602 females whose average age was not over 18 years, and 420 males whose ages averaged about 19. Taking into consideration the ever increasing efficiency of our High Schools and Collegiate Institutes, I judged that those averages had decreased rather than increased the last two years.

(c) Nearly all of the Model-trained teachers procure schools. In my experience I have not yet known one unsuccessful in this respect.

(d) Quite a percentage of those in attendance at the Normal Schools are not older than 21 years.

(e) In the Minister's report of 1887 he points out that, although our Normal Schools send forth annually over 400 teachers, the yearly increase of trained teachers throughout the Province is less

These facts may not prove that three-fourths of the number of public school teachers in Ontario are so young, but the conclusion is surely warranted that at least one-half are, and that, as you say, is serious enough.

With your permission, Mr. Editor, I will point out

1. That third-class non-professional certificates be no longer a basis of qualification for entrance upon professional training.

2. That first-class C professional certificates no longer qualify teachers who are not now, or have not been Model School masters, for the important work of Model Schools.

That the standard of qualification be not lower than that denoted by a First A certificate.

It will surely be acknowledged that the profesional training of teachers is not of less importance than the subsequent inspection of their work.

3. That the Model School term be extended to

six months, and that a work on psychology, and one on the "History of Education," be added to the curriculum.

Under our present system hosts of Modeltrained teachers besiege the trustees every autumn, the majority offering their services for sums ranging anywhere from \$200 to \$300 per annum. Result—the Normal-trained and experienced teachers are crowded out of the profession, or are driven therefrom by the smallness of the financial remuneration.

Sincerely yours,

J. W. GARVIN.

MODEL SCHOOL, WOODSTOCK, Dec. 10, 1880.

To the Editor of the Educational Journal.

SIR.—In a late issue "Headmaster" complains of the regulation which requires candidates to take the University examinations for grades "A" and B" of the first class. I am persuaded that the grievance is rather imaginary than real, and that he regulation is a substantial benefit to the teaching profession. In the first place, it puts teachers on the same level as other people with regard to higher examinations. Our past history shows that the special examinations held by the Department were rather more severe than the corresponding examinations at the Universities, and the marking of the papers was also rather sharper than that of the University examiners.

In the next place, the complaints against holding a difficult examination in the sweltering heat of the dog days were loud and persistent, and the Department did well to pay attention to them. By placing the time early in May, this objection was completely met, and the arrangement suits the great majority of candidates. In the third place, out of nothing, nothing comes. So long as teachers are willing to consider themselves paupers, dependent on public charity for the means of rising in their profession, so long will the public esteem their services at less that they are worth, and we shall have a continuation of the present scale of salaries. What costs little outlay of capital will bring in only a small return. Let "Headmaster" and his comrades in distress boldly accept the situation, and, if necessary, resign their positions, go up for the examinations in May, secure their certificates, and enjoy a well-earned holiday of three months. I venture to predict that they will all secure better situations before August, and salaries so much higher that in one year they will be recouped for their outlay and have a pleasant holiday into the bargain. The fact is, Mr. Editor, that the High Schools can scarcely get teachers of grade "A" standing at any price; the demand far exceeds the supply. Trained teachers of that grade need not remain unemployed a single day.

Yours truly,

ANOTHER HEADMASTER.

A GAY, serene spirit is the source of all that is noble and good. Whatever is accomplished of the greatest and noblest sort flows from such a disposition.—Schiller.

THERE are nettles everywhere:

But smooth green grasses are more common still. The blue of Heaven is larger than the cloud.

—Elizabeth Barrett Browning.

HAPPY the teachers who have to do with intelliences naturally curious, but especially happy are those who know how to excite curiosity and to keep it alive. For this purpose we must skilfully appeal to the tastes of the child and favor them, yet without overtaxing them. Eagerness to utilize a taste may kill it.—Compayre.

Examination Papers.

EAST MIDDLESEX AND KENT-PROMO-TION AND REVIEW EXAMINATION,

> NOVEMBER, 1889. SECOND TO THIRD CLASS.

LITERATURE.

Time, 11/4 hours.

LIMIT OF WORK.—The meaning of words, phrases, sentences and paragraphs in the reading lessons of the Second Reader.

Full value ought not to be given for any answer unless it is carefuly written in a correct and complete sentence, correctly spelled.

Count 75 marks a full paper; 18 minimum to

Write the answers of these questions in complete sentences with books open.

I. Lesson XXXIII., page 93.

- (a) Copy two different lines that show the day was cold.
- (b) Copy four lines that show that it was windy. (c) Copy two lines that show that it was in the evening when the lady found the child.
- (d) Explain "home faring," line 2, page 93; "flaring," line 4, page 93; "her treasure," line 1, page 94; "number," line 5, page 94; "I've walked about a hundred hours," line 13, page 94.

 (e) Page 95. Why is the long dash——put

(e) Page 95. Win the fourth line?

- 2. Lesson XLI., page 118.
 (a) Describe Andy Moore in your own words.
- Describe the house in which Andy lived.

(c) Make a drawing of the end of a shanty; put one window with four panes of glass in the end.
(d) How was it Andy knew more about "birds' eggs than he did about fashions"? Line 12.

(e) What shows that Andy was an observant, in telligent boy?

(f) What shows that he was brave?
(g) Explain "long tail," 5th line from foot of page; "screeching," 3rd line from foot of page.
(h) Page 120. Who "wiped their eyes"? Why?

How did the passengers show their gratitude? Explain the last two words on the page, "safe through."

Lesson LIX., page 179.
(a) Tell the meaning of the first stanza (four lines) in your own words.

(b) Look at the picture and tell who is the man sitting in the chair. Give reason.

(c) Tell which girl you think is Alice. Give rea-

(d) Tell which you think is Allegra. Give rea-

(e) Tell which you think is Edith. Give reason.

(f) Copy the stanza that the picture is based upon.

(g) Page 181. Explain "scaled the wall," 3rd stanza; "such an old moustache as I am," 3rd stanza; "in my fortress," 4th stanza. The last two lines, 5th stanza.

THIRD TO FOURTH CLASS.

LITERATURE.

Time, 13/4 hours.

Count 90 marks a full paper; 24 minimum to

Write the answers of these questions in complete sentences with books open.

1. Lesson XXXI., page 88.

(a) Make (in the form of a table) a concise list of John Brown's loves. Number them.

(b) In like manner make a list of his hates.

2. Lesson XLIX., page 131.

Make a table of the whistles mentioned on this page, and (using your own words)) the price paid for each.

3. Lesson LXV.
(a) Explain "wary," line 1, page 173; "deceiver, line 10, page 173.

(b) Page 174, line 7. Describe (in your own

words) the manœuvre. (c) Page 175. Who is "I"? Explain "station," line 2; "solitary," line 6.

(d) Make a diagram of this part of the river, illustrating the first paragraph, page 175. Mark the Find the multiplicand.

first position of the narrator, and by a dotted line show how he moved from the time he saw the crocodile until he shot it; mark the position of the rush and of the crocodile.

(e) Page 177. Explain "this," line 8; "three witnesses," line 8; "malefactor," line 11; "riddance," line 12.

(f) "A very small creature...swimming," lines

15 and 16.

What two different meanings may be conveyed by these two lines?

Which of the meanings do you think the author intended?

4. Lesson LXXV., page 207.

(a) Write the meaning of the following sentences without using the italicized words:

A soldier of the Legion," line I. "Take a message and a token," line 7.

"Were some grown old in wars," line 13. "I was aye a truant bird," line 18.

" My heart leaped forth to hearhim tell," line 20. (b) To what persons did the dying soldier send messages, and what do you think the one most important thought in each of these messages?

UNIFORM AND PROMOTION EXAMINA-TIONS, UNITED COUNTIES STORMONT. DUNDAS AND GLENGARRY, Nov. 28TH AND 29TH, 1889.

ARITHMETIC—CLASS II.

All the work must be put down. Any ten questions may be attempted. If more than ten be answered, the examiners will value the first ten.

Value of questions, 10 each.

- I. Write down in figures nine hundred and one thousand and twenty. Express in words 6040, and 80905, and 110600.
- 2. How much greater is 70506085 than 9849678? After working this example write after each line of figures its name.
- 3. Write down and add together all the numbers between 8976 and 8982. After working this example write the name of the last line of figures.
- 4. Find 9 times 89067. After working this example write after each line its name.
 - 5. Find 38 times 67954 and 1006 times 40680.
- 6. How many sevens are there in 86492? After working this example write after each line its name.
- 7. How many times will 49 go into 80,659, and how much will be over?
- 8. A man exchanges 34 cows worth \$35 each for 13 horses worth \$87 each. Does he give or receive any money to balance the trade, and if so, how much?
- 9. How much will 45 bushels of wheat cost at \$1.25 per bushel?
- 10. If there are 184 pages in your Second Reader, and there are 26 lines on a page, and 35 letters in a line, how many letters would there be altogether in the book?
- 11. If a boy gets 3 cents a bushel for picking up potatoes, how many bushels must he pick up to get \$1.15 in money and a bushel of potatoes, allowing the potatoes to be worth 35 cents a bushel?
- 12. A girl can pick 8 quarts of berries in a day, and the berries are worth 10 cents a quart. How many days will it take her to earn \$4.00?
- 13. A man gets 6 bills from the bank which are together worth \$100. Two of the bills are worth ten dollars each. If the remaining bills are equal in value, what is the value of each?

Any ten questions may be attempted. If more than ten be answered, the examiners will value only the first ten answers. All the work must be put down.

Values, 10 each.

- 1. Use the two numbers 84 and 325 to make examples, showing sum, remainder, subtrahend, minuend, product, dividend, multiplicand, divisor, multiplier, quotient.
- 2. Divide 8647 by 105 by means of its three factors, showing how you get the true remainder.
- 3. How many days are there in 238946 hours?
- 4. The product is 326,310. The multiplier is 365.

- 5. Divide \$184.60 between John and James, giving James \$48.30 more than John.
- 6. If a boy can pick up a bushel of apples every eight minutes and begins at 8 o'clock in the morning, what time by the clock will it be when he has picked up 56 bushels, allowing an hour's rest at
- 7. Harry gives 10 apples for 80 marbles. He exchanges the marbles for oranges at the rate of 16 marbles for one orange. Then he sells the oranges at 8 cents each. What does he realize apiece for his apples?
- 8. How many tons of hay at \$8.50 per ton can be bought for \$51
- 9. Change £37 16s 9d to dollars and cents.
- 10. Find the cost of 864 sheets of paper at 17
- 11. Find without reducing to lowest name, the difference between 25 miles, 3 fur., 20 rods, 2 yards, 2 feet, 10 inches, and 19 miles, 7 fur., 30 rods, 3 yards, I foot II inches.
 - 12. Multiply 3 acres, 3 roods, 30 rods by 8.
- 13. James has 84 marbles and William has 111. What is the greatest number of boys among whom either James or William may exactly divide his marbles?

CLASS IV.

All the work to be put down. No value for simply putting down an answer. Only ten questions to be worked.

Values, 10 each; 5 marks on the whole paper may be given for neatness.

NOTE.—In Nos. 1, 2 and 9, full value is to be given only for concise modes of solution.

- 1. How many village lots, each 10 rods long and 4 rods wide, may be laid out of a field 200 rods long and 80 rods wide, making no allowance for
- 2. Find the least common denominator for the fractions $\frac{1}{2}$, $\frac{1}{3}$, $\frac{1}{4}$, $\frac{1}{5}$, $\frac{1}{6}$, $\frac{1}{8}$, $\frac{1}{6}$, $\frac{1}{10}$, $\frac{1}{12}$, $\frac{1}{15}$.
- 3. How much greater is 19011 than 18813? (Full value will be given only for solutions without reducing the numbers to improper fractions.)
- 4. If \$10.35 will buy 690 feet of lumber, how much may be bought for \$28.44?
- 5. If a barrel of apples contains 2 bushels and 3 pecks, and sells for \$2.75, how much is that per bushel?
- 6. If a man buys a barrel of American coal oil containing 54 wine gallons, for \$9.72, what must he ask for an imperial gallon, so as neither to gain nor lose, if 1 wine gallons are equal to one imperial gallon?
- 7. Make up neatly a bill of the following: Sold 7. Make up neatly a bill of the following. Sold to Silas Thompson by James Haskins, on the 1st of March, 1889, $3\frac{1}{2}$ lbs. tea at 42c. per lb.; $5\frac{1}{4}$ yards cloth at \$2.60 per yard; 68 lbs. of nails at \$2.50 per cwt.; 3 pairs of boots at \$2.75 per pair. Silas Haskins pays 1 ton of hay at \$8.50 and cash to balance balance.
- 8. A baker gives one dozen 4-lb. loaves of bread for 64 lbs. of wheat. He exchanges the wheat for roller flour at the rate of 45 lbs. of flour for a bushel of wheat. If flour is worth \$2.64 per hundred lbs. find the price of the 4-lb loaf.
- 9. Find what must be paid to take up a note for \$325.40 at the end of 8 months and 15 days, with interest at 6 per cent.
- 10. What will a mile of fence cost made of No. 8 "Serpentine" wire, with 4 rows of wire, and posts 8 feet apart, if 112 lbs. of wire reach 560 feet, and cost 48 cents per lb., and the posts are worth 8 cents each, and setting them 6 cents each, and the staples (4 in each post) are worth 6 cents per lb., each pound containing 80 staples, and allowing \$3 for putting on the wires?
- 11. The Searle-O'Connor boat race was finished at about 46 minutes after 1 o'clock p.m., English time, on Sept. 16th. The news was immediately cabled and telegraphed to Montreal. Allowing 5 minutes for sending the message, what time a day by Montreal time was it when the news reached Montreal, if Montreal is 732° west from Greenwich, and allowing an hour's difference of time for each 15 degrees difference of longitude?
 - 12. The fare from Brockville to Elgin by the B.

W. & S. St. M. Ry. is \$1.00. A return ticket is 13 of single fare. Would a passenger gain or lose, and if so, how much, if instead of buying a return ticket he buys the railway company's scrip at 75 cents on the dollar, and pays with the scrip his full fare going and returning?

13. Which would be the more profitable, and how much, 28 yards of cloth, \(\frac{7}{8} \) yards wide, for \$72.00, or 20 yards, 1\(\frac{1}{8} \) yards wide, for \$66.00 ?

Hints and Helps.

"REWARDS." BY JASAW.

I HAVE cut up pieces of foolscap 2 inches by 11/2 inches, with the word "Merit" on each. close of the reading class one is given to each pupil having not more than one mistake in reading, also one to each who has had not more than one in spelling, the words spelled being written on the At the arithmetic class, when the class work at a principle taught, each one gets a "merit" who has all correct but one, or two, etc., at teacher's discretion. In grammar merits are given for each ten marks, or fraction of ten over one-half, in For instance, twenty words are given to parse; a pupil has seventeen correct—two In geography, the same as in grammar. The work in geography and grammar is done on slates after the usual class. In drawing or writing they may be given for "extra work" of any kind, etc. After a pupil has received ten "merits," he receives a small paste-board card with the words, "One Merit; Try Again," printed on it. (These may be purchased very cheap from A. Flanagan, When he has fifty of these last he receives a pretty card with a Bible text thereon. (These may be purchased for 30 cents per hundred from D. C. Cooke, Chicago, Ill.) When the pupil has five of these he gets a "diploma." These diplomas may be bought from A. Flanagan at a very small cost. The diplomas read, "For Good Conduct, and Scholarship, etc., etc." Now, in order that it may be such a pupil forfeit for in order that it may be such, a pupil forfeits for bad conduct, a "merit," or two, or three, according to the offence. This, however, should not be done much, or at all unkindly, or with any seeming degree of satisfaction on the part of the teacher, or the pupil will feel very much inclined to "gra-ciously" forfeit his "pile" of "merits." I have used this with junior pupils for four months and find it works very well. I know much can be said find it works very well. against the reward system, but there is an element, and an honest element, in child-mind, as well as mature minds, that finds its satisfaction in reward. In this system a pupil daily receives merits. He need not pass a day without achieving something; yet, he endeavors to get the five in order to get the card, and when he has one or two cards he looks forward to getting his "diploma"; thus perseverance, patience, industry, and honest ambition are cultivated. I find it encourages "home work" that is not called such. This is a "practical" system of reward. I know there are schools where it, as all other systems of rewarding, are done away with, and honest "pluck" and "plod" alone depended on; but I write this for some of the "brothers or sisters" who are wondering "what to do next." There are such. It is all well to talk of the ideal school, the ideal teacher, and write methods for the expert to use, but there are those of the profession, and I think many of them, who will find the foregoing method of reward-modified to suit the circumstances -a success. second, and part second class, I ask them to get only fifteen of the first kind of "merits," then I give them a small card, that may be bought for 12 cents a hundred from D. C. Cooke, Chicago. I always request them to learn the Scripture text or couplet of poetry that may be on it. By degrees then raise the point to be reached before any real reward is given. Try it, any of you, who, like my-self, have found that your "new school is not so easily inspired to noble things as your last," and if it is a failure in producing more work, closer attention in class, enthusiasm, increase of home study patience, and perseverance, pardon the writer. My object is to help some of my fellow teachers who sometimes sorrow because "things did not seem to go well to-day."

WHITE ROCK, Mich.

NOT A PLAYROOM.

In making the schoolroom attractive and a pleasant place for scholars, there is a danger that the over-anxious teacher may in this do that which will sadly influence her discipline. The schoolroom should never be considered by the children as a playroom. If children are suffered to enter the room prior to the opening of the school exercises, and are permitted to deport themselves as if they were in a nursery-room or in the school-yard, by walking and running about, playing games, talking and whispering, there will result a fine loss of powers on the teacher's part which she will realize as the days of the school year wear away.

It is infinitely better for the children, for the teacher, for the good of the school, that when children enter a schoolroom they take their places in their own seats and begin work on their daily tasks. Much excellent individual work can be done by the teacher in these precious moments before school. The indolent boy can be spurred to his work, the discouraged one brightened up and his obstacles removed, the eaanest one recognised and urged to greater tasks. Then the time is valuable to the teacher in preparing her work, finishing her reports, and planning lessons.

If the room is a playroom all this must be surrendered to the confusion that prevails, and when the call for opening school is made there has been wasted the spirit that makes for earnest study, and the day is a severe one until the teacher, by strong control and masterly ability, wins it back. It is far

better for children to make the playground their only field for games, and let the schoolroom be held sacred for its legitimate purposes.—The American Teacher.

[While we have no doubt that in the main the foregoing is wise and judicious, we should be inclined to modify it by saying that any schoolroom plays must be of a quiet character, and under the direction of the teacher. In the country and in schools which have no gymnasium or covered shed, it is very desirable that children shoald have some means of amusement during recess, in stormy weather, when they cannot play out of doors. true, wide-awake teacher will always have some quiet games by which they may be amused within doors without damage to schoolroom furniture or property.—ED. JOURNAL.]

THE UTILITY OF DRAWING.

HAVING charge of a class of young men studying drawing, some practical reasons for teaching it have been brought directly to my notice. The class includes machinists, car builders, carpenters, upholsterers, civil engineers, stone-cutters, and those wishing to become architects or draughtsmen, and a few others. Why do they wish to learn to draw? Excepting architects and draughtsmen, whose work is largely or wholly drawing, it is that they may be able to read, and so work from a drawing, and to be able to make a quick sketch or a more elaborate drawing to illustrate an idea or piece of work, which may be their own plan, improvement or invention, or a copy merely. These students feel keenly the or a copy merely. These students leel keeling the need of a knowlege of drawing. "I have had chances of earning \$4.50 or \$5 a day," said one of them to me, "but I could not work from a drawing,

and so am earning only \$2.50 a day."

Surely this helps to bear out the statement quoted by the Minister of Education in a late report that "the efficiency of a workman is increased 33 per cent. by his ability to work from a drawing.

What kind of drawing do these students mostly equire? It is easy to show that they require a knowledge of freehand more than anything else. Very few of them wish to make a living as draughtsmen; perhaps one in ten. With the exception of these, they desire to be able to make a drawing to illustrate some work to a workman—as foremen have frequently to do-and they all aim to be foremen, at least, some day. Any mechanic will tell you that a foreman's sketches are almost wholly freehand.

So we learn why pupils in the public schools should not use ru ers to draw straight lines. practice the ordinary workman draws freehand, and we learn to draw freehand by drawing freehand, not by using rulers. Perspective drawing has been largely supplanted by the photograph and photo-engraving; but there will always be a large must go on simultaneously.

field in the production of original perspectives for illustrated magazines, newspapers, etc. Geometri-cal drawing is supplementary. Teachers should give more working drawings than are found in the public school course, and the following objects furnish excellent models: A plain table or teacher's desk, a door, a window and casings, and the mouldings on doors, window casings, etc. Have the pupils measure and reduce to a simple scale as large as convenient. Pupils can easily be taught to prepare scales not found on common rulers by knowing how to divide a given line into any number of equal parts. Show the necessity of neatness in work. If a piece of work be badly done, ask how much they would give for an article no better made? Urge them to do work worth one hundred cents on the dollar. Allow a pupil all the time he needs to do good work; discourage all hurry. Talk the matter over with the class; then put such a motto as this on the board: "NOT HOW MUCH, BUT HOW WELL." Before beginning Before beginning each lesson place the motto for drawing on the board, and call their attention to it. Change it Change it sometimes to a business motto, as, "WE GUARAN-TEE OUR WORK," and the effect will be at once seen in the effort to do work worthy of the motto. JOHN WALLIS.

THE TEACHING PROCESS.

THE following is an outline of a suggestive paper read by Mr. R. H. Cowie before the Perth 'eachers' Association :

He said every teacher should be able to answer the question, "What is teaching?" He proposed the question, "What is teaching?" He proposed to answer the question, and the outline was not his own; it was that of Dr. Trumbull. He discussed, firstly, its nature, and pointed out what is not teaching. (1) Telling—it may be a part and is not teaching. (1) Telling—it may be a part and it may not; of itself it is not. (2) Hearing a recitation. The principal reason is because the words are simply memorized without grasping the idea. He then defined what teaching is. The best defi-He then defined what teaching is. The best dennition is—causing another to know. At the outset the knowledge must be in the mind of the teacher, and not in the mind of the pupil, and there must be an impartation of the knowledge to the mind of the pupil. He then dealt with the essentials of teaching. (1) To know whom we are to teach; by which he meant, knowing their minds, the capacity of them, their knowledge of language and their attainments, their desires and their peculiarities, and what they need to know. (2) To know what we are to teach. The lesson must be studied with the pupil before the mind. (3) To know how we are to teach. It is not sufficient to be acquainted with wise methods of teaching, but we must know what methods to apply to the teaching before us. Each teacher should decide his method for himself. His third division was the Elements of Teaching. 1. This included looking at and listening Attention. to the teacher, and stretching out the mind to obtain what is sought. It must be held as well as attracted. 2. Clearness. more than declaring it. Making a truth clear is The chief agencies for conveying ideas are visible objects, signs and words. There is most danger of being misunder stood through the agency of words. 3. Co-work of teacher and pupils. Unless there is learning by of teacher and pupils. Unless there is learning by a learner, there is no teaching by a teacher. His fourth division was "Methods of Teaching." I. Preparation. A teacher should study a scholar for his teaching. The teacher who cannot discern differences in his scholars will never be a teacher. The knowledge of their common characteristics was not enough. We must know their differences and we can learn them by observation and by learning from others. In studying a lesson for teaching, the question should be asked, What can I make my pupil to know about the lesson? The teaching of a lesson should be planned. Have the points in your mind that you intend to teach-how to begin, how to progress, how to close. 2. In progress attention should be secured, and attention is the result of interest. To beget interest is to secure at tention. That which is taught should be made This must be done by using language the clear. pupils understand—by putting ourselves in sympathy with them, and by illustrations. The cowork of pupils will be secured largely by questioning and encouraging the pupil to question. Attention, making clear what is taught, and co-work

BUSINESS NOTICES.

WE direct attention to the announcement of the merits of the "Concise Imperial Dictionary." It is our intention to handle this Dictionary in connection with the JOURNAL, and we offer it in the best binding, and the Educational Journal for one year, both for \$5.50, plus 14 cents for postage. Subscribers who are paid in advance may deduct the amount they paid for one year, send the balance, and have the book at once. This gives the party the JOURNAL for \$1.00.

TO MODEL SCHOOL STUDENTS.

WE are frequently asked for special rates for the JOURNAL to the teacher-students at the Model Schools. In consideration of their position, not being yet in the active work, we have decided to grant them the special active work, we have decided to grant them the special rate of \$1.00 a year, provided they subscribe while they are in such institutions. Model School students, therefore, who would like the JOURNAL for 1890 for \$1.00, may take advantage of this offer before the coming Christmas vacation, when they will be entered for the balance of this year and the whole of the next. Perhaps it would be desirable for all such subscriptions from any school to be sent in one order; and if the Principals of Model Schools throughout the Province will take a kind interest in this matter, and act for their students, they will do both them and us a favor.

THE holiday season is, in many cases, the season also for removals and accepting new positions. We trust that no teacher who now gets the JOURNAL, and who changes his location, will forget the formality of notifying us, so that the necessary change may be made in the address. This should be attended to in any case, even if the visits of the paper are no longer decase, even in the visits of the paper are no longer desired. Otherwise, under our present rule of not cutting off a teacher's name unless he wishes it, the paper will continue to go to his old address at his risk. A post card is sufficient for all purposes of notification; and this courtesy may save both the subscriber and the publishers much unpleasantness at a later period. It is rather a severe punishment, when our sole offence is that of trusting a subscriber, to be told that the party left the locality months ago, and knows nothing about the paper. A notification in all cases of removal is suggested under every form of business rule. hope that every teacher who removes may feel that he needs his paper as much in his new location as he did in the old.

Editorial.

TORONTO, DECEMBER 16, 1889.

THE DICKENS PREMIUM.

AFTER our announcement of the clubbing of the works of Dickens and Sir Walter Scott, in the last issue of the JOURNAL, we were notified that another establishment had received the exclusive handling of these works for the Do-Our premiums offer of those book, therefore, is withdrawn. We will purchase a sufficient number of sets to supply those who have forwarded the money before the appearance of this notice, but none afterwards. Subscribers will be good enough thus to send no more orders for the books referred to.

MR. GOLDWIN SMITH ON EDUCATION.

At the luncheon which was given in connection with the recent celebration of the Jubilee of the Anglican Church, in this city, Mr. Goldwin Smith delivered a speech in which he touched on several important educational questions. The address was highly appreciated by those who heard it, and regarded as an exceptionally interesting and timely contribution to current discussions. In the hope of being able to give our readers a literary treat, as well as some valuable thoughts on an educational topic, we wrote Pro-

or a report. He kindly sends the following reply, which though not the full report which we had hoped to obtain, will convey to our readers an idea of the course of thought followed in the in principle and feeling, the incidental teachings address:

THE GRANGE, TORONTO. Nov. 30, 1889.

I feel honored by your request that I would give you my speech at the luncheon, but the fact is, it was an off-hand speech, and I not only have no note of it, but I don't think I can recall a single sentence. The gist of it was that the Church of England did well in educating her ministry in free universities, instead of bringing them up in clerical seminaries, and in letting them have free access to all the science and research of the age.

I said that the man who had a real faith in God ought not to be afraid of science and research, as there was but one author of all truth, and all scientific discoveries, if real, must harmonize in the end with religious truth. I said that Evolution, which had caused so much alarm, had really confirmed, if not literal interpretations of the Bible, at least the practical treatment of human nature by Christianity, since it taught that there was something originally low and brutish in man which required to be worked out by discipline; whereas the doctrine of Rousseau and the French Revolutionists was that human nature was originally good and only required emancipation from law and government in order to enter into perfect virtue and happi ness. I made some light remarks on the commotion caused by "Robert Elsmere," and ended with a few words on our Public School system, accepting it as a necessity of democratic government, but saying that it required to be supplemented by something more parental which should teach the value of character, as contrasted with that of the power of "getting on in the world," and inculcate duty as a corrective of extreme democratic notions of individual right.

Yours very truly, GOLDWIN SMITH.

SECULARIZATION OF THE SCHOOLS.

WHATEVER basis there may be in fact for the lamentations of Canon Dumoulin and others over the alleged degeneracy of the youth of the present day, it is surely unfair and unreasonable to lay the blame mainly at the door of the public schools. Admitting for argument's sake that the boys and girls of this generation have sadly deteriorated in manners and morals, it is quite too much to assume that the schools are chiefly to blame. The main foundations of morals and manners, both good and bad, are laid in the home, and in the associations of childhood and youth. Even in the schools the influence of schoolmates has usually quite as much to do with the moulding of character as any which the best of teachers can bring to bear.

It is, no doubt, the duty, the first and highest duty of the teacher, to do all in his power to counteract evil influences and tendencies operating from without. He must, as far as possible, correct the bad and strengthen the good habits that have been formed in the homes and on the streets. He must strive earnestly and untiringly to lift up the moral tone of the school and to create truthfulness, conscientiousness and a high fessor Smith asking to be favored with the MS. sense of honor among his pupils. But his suc-

cess in doing this will depend vastly more upon what he is than upon what he says. If the teacher be cultured, pure minded, truly Christian and the perpetual force of his character and example will be vastly more potent for good than any formal religious instruction could possibly be. If, on the other hand, he is lacking in these qualities the pupils will be the first to find it out, and any religious exercises he may conduct pro forma will do much more harm than good.

The strength of the opposition to the secularization of the schools in Manitoba and elsewhere lies in the assumption that secularization means forbidding not only religious but moral training. We do not so understand it. All that is necessary is, so far as we can see, that the State refrain from making religious exercises and instruction compulsory, leaving the matter in the hands of the local authorities, where it properly belongs. To forbid religious exercises and appeal to religious motives, under any circumstances, would be as much an interference with liberty of conscience as to enforce them under all circumstances. In hundreds of cases no patron of the school will object. In every case the simple provision that no child shall be required to attend at any exercise to which parents or guardians object, will cover the whole ground. What Government has to do is to guard the rights of the minority. It is for the parents and trustees in each locality to see to it that the teachers employed are men and women whose whole influence will be right and powerful in moulding both manners and morals.

Literary Notes.

Our Little Men and Women for December (D. Lothrop Company, Boston,) is a very pretty and attractive number. The frontispiece, "Ruth and her Baby-Sister," is a charming little picture.

H. O. Pentecost, the editor of the Twentieth Century, has written a vigorous paper on "The Crime of Capital Punishment," which will appear in the January number of the Arena, Boston's new literary review.

The Critic of Nov. 30 contains a long and interesting article on "The Home of Charlotte Bronte. " the famous novelist of the past generation, by Mrs. L. B. Walford, the popular novelist of to day, who visited last summer the scenes familiar and dear to all readers of Mrs. Gaskell's biography of the author of "Jane Eyre."

Scribner's Magazine for December is a holiday number of striking beauty and attractiveness in its illustrations, and the text of the articles will appeal to the fancy and sympathy of readers, rather than to their desire for instruction in practical affairs. With the exception of the fourth instalment of Harold Frederic's serial, each article is complete in this issue.

In the December Lippincotts, William Shepard tells about "The Evolution of Famous Sayings, and shows how many famous bon mots and epigrams antedate the existence of the men who are generally supposed to have originated them. Henrik Ibsen, the Norwegian poet and dramatist, who is at present much in vogue, is handled without gloves by Maurice Francis Egan in a critique entitled "An Apostle of 'Frankness."

THE December *Century* opens with a series of unpublished letters written by the Duke of Wellington, in his very last days, to a young married lady of England. These letters present the Iron Duke in a very attractive light-amiable and unpretending; the careful guardian of the children of his friend in their childish illnesses. Besides pictures of the Duke's residence, etc., there are three portraits of Wellington; the imposing full-length picture by Sir Thomas Lawrence being used as frontispiece.

To the Atlantic Monthly for December Prof. N. S. Shaler, of Harvard College, contributes a paper on "School Vacations," and Mr. William Cranston Lawton, whose articles on the Greek drama have been among the best literary papers the Atlantic has lately had, writes about "Delphi: the Locality and its Legends." Mr. James' "Tragic Muse" is continued, and there is an instalment of Mr. Bynner's serial, "The Begum's Daughter." Mr. Thomas Bailey Aldrich's "Two Lyrics," and several other papers of interest by able writers complete the number.

A SATISFACTORY answer to the question, "How can I become a distinct speaker?" is given in the December issue of the Chautauquan by Prof. R. L. Cumnock, of Northwestern University. The rules laid down are the outgrowth of many years of successful teaching of elocution and are simple and practical. The first step, he says, is the mastery of the consonantal elements, and for this a list of words is given. The second step is the mastery of final combinations in such words as revolve, claimed, land, act, bubbled, midst, wrongdst, arm'dst, scorn'dst. Then comes the pronunciation of words of many syllables, and next, difficult combinations in sentences. Here are a few of the sentences for practice: Six thick thistle stick. She sells sea-shells. Some shun sunshine. Do you shun sunshine? He saved six, long, slim, sleek, slender saplings.

INDUSTRIAL science and political science, zoology, geology, physiology, and scientific history, receive a due share of attention in the December Popular Science Monthly. Perhaps the most attractive among the many articles of interest in this number is that in which Dr. Charles C. Abbott writes about "The Descendants of Palæolithic Man in America," telling what scenes surrounded those early Americans who made the rough pottery and the implements of slaty rock that he has found in the Delaware Valley. During the coming year the magazine will contain a series of papers from distinguished specialists on the agency of science in the growth of the leading industries of the world since the discovery of America by Columbus. A large share of attention will also continue to be given to scientific ethics and the true sphere of govern-

For more than forty-five years Littell's Living Age has been published with uninterrupted success, and has enabled its readers at small expense to keep pace with the literary progress of the Frequent in issue and unequalled in amount of matter, it furnishes the only satisfactorily fresh and complete compilation of the best literature of the day-a literature which continues to grow in extent and importance, and embraces the productions of the most eminent writers in all branches of literary and scientific The magazine is therefore invaluable to the American reader who wishes to keep in the intellectual life of the time. Its prospectus for 1890 is commended to the attention of all who are selecting their reading-matter for the new year. Reduced clubbing rates with other periodicals are given, and to new subscribers remitting now for the year 1890 the intervening num-

bers are sent gratis. Littell & Co., Boston, are the publishers.

SEVERAL years ago a scholarly Frenchman in Boston started a little journal in the French language. He called it "Le Français: Revue Mensuelle de Grammaire et de Littérature.' explained by its founder, the aim of the journal was "to offer to its readears a great variety of interesting, readable matter from the works of the best French writers; and further, to try and explain the syntax and the niceties of the French language by the aid of corrected compositions and answers to queries sent by subscribers." New York Nation, in an article commending the work of the journal, and its editor's cultivated sense of selection, said: "Le Français is, by all odds, the best French journal ever attempted in this country. It cannot be too strongly recommended as an adjunct wherever French is In its pages are found short stories; criticisms on contemporary matters; social questions, and political matters; extracts and articles from the best French contemporary publications biographies of prominent personages; notes and queries; the discussion of French-American idioms and phrases, in regard to their corresponding signification; questions of pronunciation; reviews of books and periodicals; practical selections from standard writers; and numerous other departments and items of interest to French students and readers. In 1887 Le Français was removed to New York. It is now in the ninth year of its publication, and is published by H. D. Newson, at 21 University Place in that city.

Question Drawer.

- 1. Is a teacher legally empowered to detain children after four o'clock for neglect of home work? 2. Can a pupil be suspended for refusing to remain after four?-SUBSCRIBER.
- [1. Yes. Subject to Regulations 11 and 12 (6). Suspension is allowed for violent opposition to authority. Any such case must be at once reported to the trustees for their action.]

GIVE the pronunciation of the word Norwegian. A SUBSCRIBER.

[Nor-wé-je-an.]

[Answers to questions asked by G. D., in JOURNAL of Nov. 15th:—Arbroath, formerly Aberbrothock, is a seaport in the east of Scotland, Forfar Co., at the mouth of the small river Brothock. The Gaelic prefix, Aber, means the mouth of a river flowing nto the sea. The town is about the size of Kingston, Ontario, and does considerable manufacturing and trade by sea and rail. The town owes its rise, f not its origin, to its monastery or abbey founded there in 1178, by William the Lion, King of Scots, who was buried within its precincts. The Bell Rock Arbroath call the River "the Dutchman."—W. S. HOWELL. North Bay is the most important town in the District of Nipissing.—W. F. MOORE. Several other teachers also have kindly sent us answers, and will place account our thanks! and will please accept our thanks.]

ARE the classes in an ungraded school from the first up, after every opening (morning recess, etc.) supposed to follow the order of a programme? mean are they to settle down without being directed to regular work, or is the teacher to assign work to every class except that one which is coming up to recitation?

2. Their coming to the black-board to see work gives me annoyance also. The boards are not good, however, and from the circumstances I suppose I should not blame them.—QUEROR.

[Will some teacher or inspector kindly answer, or give us a short article on the subjects broached?

WHAT is the correct pronunciation of Shepody? -M. M.

[The local, and we suppose correct, pronunciation is Shěp'-o-dě.]

How shall I prepare canvas or cotton for mounting thereon a paper map?—TEACHER.

Much depends on the quality of paper in map. If the paper is heavy no preparation is required. If light a sizing will be required. The lighter the paper the thicker the sizing.]

1. In the following sentences parse the words end-

ing in "ing", giving reasons:

(a) "We saw the sinking ship."
(b) "A sudden trembling siezed on his limbs."
(c) "A piercing cry rang through the startled air."
(d) "This is a very amusing book."
(e) "The trotting horse came to a sudden stop."
(f) "A horse's trotting quickly down the street frightened the shild" down the street frightened the child."

2. Point out the distinction between the verbal

noun and the gerund.

Is it lawful for an inspector to give a school a 3. Is it lawful for an inspector to give a school a holiday or a half-holiday, as is generally done when he makes his inspectoral visit?—X.Y.Z.

[(a) Adjective. It is simply a descriptive modifer of ship. (b) Noun. It is simply a descriptive modifier of ship. (b) Noun. It is the subject of the action described by seized, that of which the seizing is predicated. (c) Adjective; simply descriptive of cry.
(d) Do. (e) Do. (f) Noun; see b. 2. We have not before us, at the moment, a copy of the Public School grammar, and do not know how the words are defined. The proper distinction is, we should say, that the verbal noun is used simply as a noun, as in (b) above, while the gerund, in addition to being governed as a noun, may itself govern an objective case, e.g., on delivering an address. 3. This, it is understood, is done with the concurrence of the trustees.]

1. Give correct pronunciation of Iroquois.

2. Is vocal music compulsory in the Normal School?

3. (a) Can the holder of a second class (non-professional) certificate legally represent himself as a "second-class teacher"? (b) If not, why do some trustees insert the words "second-class Normal advertisements? — A certificate" in Young TEACHER.

[I. Ir'-o-kwoi, or Ir'-o-kwa (a as in fat). 2. Yes. 3. (a) No. (b) To avoid confusion, we suppose, between the two kinds of certificates.]

I AM teaching in a country school, and am trying to furnish suitable games for my pupils during play hours, but would like for some of the readers of the JOURNAL to give a good list of suitable winter games for boys, for girls, and for boys and girls together.-SPORT.

WHAT is meant by Standard time?—M. L.

[Standard time means the uniform time agreed upon by countries or corporations by which to regulate certain movements or transactions in which different communities are interested. used in Canada the term denotes the time agreed upon for the convenience of travellers by rail and steamboat, in accordance with which all places between certain meridians agreed on, have the same time, instead of having each its own true time as fixed by longitude west from Greenwich. When a meridian is reached, one hour is added or deducted, according as one is moving east or west.]

WILL you please tell me whether the "Home Knowledge Society" is a fraud or not ?-A. E. F.

[We have been repeatedly asked this question. It is a delicate one to answer. We have not really the information necessary to enable us to give a reliable opinion. We know no reason whatever for suspecting the "Association" to be other than what it claims to be, and we see no reason why an arrangement of the kind might not be advantageous. At the same time, teachers would do well to be careful what they put their names to, and to satisfy themselves of the good faith of any society before joining it. If the Home Knowledge Association is joining it. a sound and honorable company or organization its conductors should be able to give satisfactory evidence of the fact in the shape of reliable testimonials.]

Elocutionary Department.

ELOCUTION IN THE PUBLIC SCHOOLS.

BY RICHARD LEWIS, PROFESSOR OF ELOCUTION.

ELOCUTION is not taught in the public schools of this Province. It is the art which teaches and trains the pupils to speak and to read with distinctness, with correctness, and with natural and just It is no misrepresentation to state, expression. judging by universal results, that such an art has no place in our educational systems. We accomplish success in the art of silent reading, so that the pupils can read with the eye the printed contents of a book, and we are justified in believing, can understand what they read. There the art ends. But reading is a vocal as well as a silent art, and when exercised by the trained artist vocally interprets thoughts and emotions with a clearness, and reality, and force which the book with its silent symbols fails to accomplish. Reading of this order of excellence demands perfection of articulation, and vocal expression in harmony with the thoughts and emotions of a passage. elocution; and this is an art utterly neglected in most of the school systems of this continent and of Europe.

It is neglected because it is misunderstood, and as a consequence, misrepresented, abused and rejected. No one denies its importance when listening to the bad, indistinct, utterly inexpressive reading in school, from the pulpit, or in the conversational intercourse of men and women; and all admit its charm when the accomplished speaker addresses assemblies of men and women, or the accomplished reader, or the gifted actor, realizes the silent thoughts of the book or the drama by expressive tones and perfect utterance of speech. But imitators of true art, with an imperfect training, abuse and degrade the art by their pretensions, and pro-nounce that to be elocution which is simply rant and quackery. "Every person has some natural power and will have a charm peculiarly his own, and unless he masters the study, this natural power is embarrassed and art disgraced. This applies to a large number of public readers who have taken a short course (in elocution) and applied for positions as readers, and have gone out through the country. Charming, unique girls who cannot read in any sense before an audience, and are encouraged, and pass from town to town, wear themselves out, and are no longer in demand. Meanwhile another generation comes forth to go through the same round, and the judicious despise elocution."*

But the public schools are not expected to make orators, actors, professional readers, or "elocutionany further than that they should lay the foundation of all subsequent culture. What then is the use of elementary elocution, and how far is the accusation just, that it is not taught in our public schools? public schools?

Elocution embraces all that is correct and finished, and perfect in the utterance of speech, in the modulations of the voice, and in the quality of the voice; in its music; in the expression of the face; in graceful attitude; and gesticulation natural, appropriate, but free from extravagance. are among the essentials of elocution; they constitute the elements of the moral as well as of the mental culture of a human being, and are as necessary to civilization as judicial laws. Every reading lesson gives opp rtunities for this culture. But beyond this the reading lesson gives opportunity for the culture of taste in the direction of elevated and noble thoughts and language; and the educated teacher, influenced by that taste, can make the reading lesson the best means for awakening a taste for the best literature, and those creations of the imagination which are now neglected and have no place in the reading habits of the nation.

Is the accusation just, then, that such elocution as is here indicated is not taught in our schools? Are our teachers educated in the art so as to be qualified to give the necessary instruction? The issues on every side in this department are the best answers to these questions. Defects of articulations in reading and speaking are the rule in the home, in the school, in the church, and on the streets. We speak as if we had no time to speak.

Our reading, social and public, is marked by utter carelessness and want of expression. Good reading is an art obsolescent. The teachers of the land are not to be blamed; they have not been taught; and, in this regard the best educated graduates of universities, and professional men, whose business it is to address and to read to audiences, are in

no wise superior to the public school teachers. Elocution is not included in our educational systems.

What, then, is to be done? We have remedies in abundance. The Delsarte system is now the popular one, and it appeals as much to the eye as to the ear; and, although in its æsthetic principles it may be made to pervade all our elocutionary lessons, it needs to be reduced and its more practical features simplified. There are those who, conscious of the difficulties of enforcing principles, pronounce all rules to be impracticable and unnecessary, and that all we need do for success in securing good reading is to understand, by various methods, the leading thought of a passage. As has just been stated, the best educated are amongst the worst readers. The author of a composition is often its worst reader. Shakespeare failed as an actor, and in his great tragedy of Hamlet took no higher character than that of the ghost, whose speeches require in their delivery little more than distinctness and solemnity. Tennyson is neither capable of reading with due expression his own immortal productions, nor of judging when they are well read by competent readers. The writer once heard a living writer of eminence read Cowper's address to his mother's picture with wretched sing-song intonation, utterly destitute of expression. Sheridan Knowles used to rant the most splendid passages of his Virginius and William Tell. It is the rule with university graduates to read with the worst articulation and the worst expression.

But the remedy is clear. Elocution is reading and speaking; it lies in the sphere of art. It can be taught effectively, but the teaching must be guided by Principles with their derivative Rules. The artist, of whatever class, is guided by his rules. He works without them apparently, but he never violates them. They become his second The accomplished actor—the highest example of finished, perfect elocution, and the accomplished reader, each speaks and reads in accordance with just, natural laws. Often they have intuitive inspirations of what is best and right, as other artists, and need not the labor of studying rules; but they obey them unconsciously. the common order must humbly follow and imitate what genius conceives and sanctions, and by patient study and practice may we all learn to labor and wait for the achievement of success. writer of this article has been encouraged by the publishers of THE EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL to supply a series of articles especially for the school teachers of the Province. The lessons will be made simple and methodical, so that teachers may introduce them to their pupils.

Briefly the subjects may be outlined thus: 1. The Mechanical. 2. The Intellectual. The first is indispensable to success. It may be accompanied from the very commencement by the second. The instruction will be largely elementary, but, as it passes into the intellectual, the lessons will embrace the study of those examples of high class literature presented more or less throughout the authorized readers, thus preparing the way for reading with due expression and awakening the taste for classic English literature.

The lessons on the mechanical branches of the subject will embrace (1) distinctness of utterance under the head of ARTICULATION, with suggestions for practice in phonetic reading and difficult articulations. The exercises may commence with pupils of the First Grade, and ought to be continued

through the entire school course.
2. VOCAL GYMNASTICS, embracing exercises in artistic breathing, voice culture, as, production of tone, pitch, inflection, stress, and all vocal efforts for the expression of thought and emotions.

3. EAR CULTURE, as necessary to elocution as it is to music

The lessons in this physical department are indispensable to good reading, and it is the lack of this education that forbids the otherwise educated adult becoming a good reader. The most thorough knowledge of the subject matter will not avail without this training. It will therefore be the object of, out this training. It will therefore be the object of, the writer to make these lessons simple, practical But some of its merriment is gone;

and useful, especially to the teachers of the country-in short, such lessons as teachers may understand and practice for their own mastery of the

subject and for the instruction of their pupils.

The intellectual branch of the elocution will be explained by an analysis of the thought and emotion, with studies of passages and selections in the Readers, and with hints and suggestions indicating the methods of reading such selections—the character of voice required, with its just modulations and inflections, in harmony with the thought expressed.

For Friday Afternoon.

FALLING LEAVES.

BY RHODA LEE.

FLUTTER, flutter, flutter, The leaves fall softly down, Here one just tinged with yellow, And there a golden brown

This one all green and crimson, That one a deep, dark red, Fluttering, quietly floating Down to their winter bed.

All desolate now are the branches That once waved those leaves in the air, They now seem cold and deserted Stripped of their raiment so fair.

And the leaves lie thick at the bottom, It would seem that their work is done; Though they wave on the tree tops no longer, Their work may have just been begun.

ome for the school-children furnish A mine of unending delight, As they frolic and bury each other In the light rustling heaps, out of sight.

Some protect a wee underground nest, Filling up little chinks in the wall, To keep out the chill, piercing blast E'er winter's white mantle shall fall.

By others a flower is sheltered At the foot of the tall maple tree, The tiny arbutus—frail plant—
They enfold and protect tenderly.

When school-mates spring flowers first seek for To take to little sick Belle, hey find the starry arbutus Peeping forth where the dead leaves fell.

Need we seek in vain for the lesson That the leaves would teach us to see? When our work at the top is completed There is work at the foot of the tree.

THE SONG OF THE SPINNING WHEEL.

Up in the attic | stowed away Out of the light | of the golden day, All in a cob-web | mantel dréssed, Grandma's spinning wheel | stands at rest, Turn it round | with a motion strong, And *loud* it singeth | an old-time song :

Round and round. Round and round. Drowsy droning | with dreary sound; Steady motion | the spindle keeps, Thread runs smooth while the baby sleeps-Baby sleèps.

Turn again | and the wheel will tell How happy dys to the old home fell, And children | played all the cottage o'er. While, back and forth | on the sanded floor, Grandma stepped in her golden spring, And this is the song that the wheel will sing-Round and round,

Round and round Loudly laughing | with lithesome sound; Thread | like gold in the sunlight's ray, Spindle | whirls | while the children play-Children play.

^{*}From a lecture delivered at the Chautauqua Assembly, July 29, 1889, by Rev. J. M. Buckley, D.D., editor of the New York Christian Advocate.

It singeth now in a sadder key; It tells of the children, one, two, three, Bovs, fast growing from day to day, Soon to wander from home away;

Round and round. Round and round, Lazily lagging with lonesome sound, Thread runs slow to the whirling spool, Happy children | are gone to school-Gone to school.

Give the old wheel a few quick turns-The kettle sings | and the back log burns; The old log cabin | looms up to view; Grandpa and grandma, loving, true, Wait for the boys to come back | again, And this is the old wheel's sad refrain;

Round and round, Round and round, Softly singing with solemn sound; Gone, alas! all the children gay-Grown to manhood | and gone away; Gone away!

One more | turn | at the droning wheel, One more glimpse of the past | to steal; Boys grown aged, all far away; Cabin | fallen to sad decay; Two old graves | on the neighboring hill— That will do—let the wheel be still;

Round and round, Round and round Sadly sighing | with sobbing sound; Baby, childhood, youth, grey head Death comes softly and snaps the thread; Snaps the thread.

-Marblehead Messenger.

The expression pervading this poem is suggested by the memories and associations of childhood and of relatives, the grandma, the baby, the children. These associations can be made pleasant subjects of talk by the teacher, tending to mental development. The repetition of "Round and round" must be read in harmony with the sentiment of the verse of which it is the burthen. In verses 1 and 2 its sound is cheerful and the tone is expulsive, but in the succeeding verses the memories are more tender and sad, best expressed by effusive and tremulous forces of voice. Emotion strengthens, as if sighing and sobbing, in the last verse. Thus the burthen becomes slower, deeper and fuller of The reader may prevent the monotony changes, feeling. of recurring words by chanting them lively; then as he advances, slowly and more deeply, prolonging the chant on the letter n in "round." In the last stanza it is deep and solemn, the dirge over the beloved dead.

Stanzas 2 and 3 are the liveliest and must be read cheerfully. Stanza 4 is read more slowly, increasing in effusive and tremulous tones as it advances. The burthen is deeper and more tender-

expression more dirge like.

Stanza I—read the burthen and last four lines in low and soft tones as if hushing to silence. The voice becomes lively, expulsive and higher. Stanza 3—Former tones but sadder. The burthen Stanza 4—Effusive and is deeper and slower. slightly expulsive, but the refrain changes to slow, soft and effusive force; l. 9 is almost chanted, and l. 12 most deep and soft in tone. Stanza 5—The mournful expression is sustained growing more tender and solemn on l. 5, and marked to the end with pathos. Let the teacher carefully avoid and prevent too much force on accented syllables.

The final line of each stanza is an echo of the preceding line, and must be read softer and lower,

as if dying away into silence.

EXPLANATION OF THE MARK.

á, rising inflection; à, falling inflection; vertical dash | a pause; italicised words, emphasis. These aids may be varied according to the judgment of the reader.

WITHOUT a rich heart wealth is an ugly beggar. —Emerson.

MAKE every child master of the one instrument by which all human life moves, speech, the mothertongue. - Thring.

HE that does a base thing in zeal for his friend burns the golden thread that ties their hearts to-gether.—Jeremy Taylor.

Primary Department.

HOW WE CURED THE RESTLESS FEET.

RHODA LEE.

THE school house is old, having begun life twentyfive years ago, with two rooms, to which, as the juvenile population increased, additions have been made, until now a stately, though somewhat unattractive pile stands on the old site of the B school.

There is a strange combination of old and new in the building, but my lot, to my sorrow, is cast in one of the apartments that bears the dignity of age. Blessings of air, light and heat abound, and in many other respects the room is exceedingly attractive, but in one respect it was somewhat of a trial.

The hundreds of little feet that traversed that room have so worn the floor that it now partakes of a rather mountainous appearance, the being formed by an endless array of high, hard knots, spread over the entire surface, standing ready

to catch the toe of some unlucky urchin.

Even in our daily march the knots had to be watched, as unless the foot came down with a gentle, though firm step, the noise would be so great as to drown even the piercing and inspiring strains of the *comb*, which constitutes our school orchestra.

While every one knows how desirable it is to have the feet kept steady on the floor and in a uniform position while working, the difficulties connected with this also lie within the experience of every teacher. There is an unconscious movement of the feet among the little scholars when engaged in slate work, to which I always refer as "writing with the feet," but in a class of seventy children these "un-conscious movements" generate a noise which conscious movements" generate a noise which should not be tolerated in any school room, as the cause lies simply and plainly in the fact that they have not been properly trained in the good habit of keeping the feet still.

In some class-rooms a slight movement of this kind would scarcely be noticeable, but if there were a good sized knot awaiting every unwary foot, the sound would perhaps be worthy of remark. In my case the sounds were quite too audible, and I determined to get my pupils, by means of some strong motive, into the habit of holding the feet steady and still, and thus surmount the difficulty and annoy-

ance of a noisy floor.

One Friday evening while tidying my cupboard, noticed that the little knick-knacks and fruit that the children had brought me, were accumulating greatly, and wondered what I should do with them, for many, though of no possible use to me, would have delighted the heart of any child. Some of the candy balls were actually growing stale, and the apples had a faint suspicion of decay,

Quickly the thought uppermost came to the rescue. These articles would make a good "pie," and might act as a motive power in steadying the restless feet. Our morning talk next day was on the cultivation of good habits, special reference being made to the feet and the necessity for self (feet) control

and government.

After enlisting the sympathy and co-operation of the scholars in attaining this control, I told them I would look all the week for the steadiest, best managed feet, and then, in an impressive tone of voice, I added, "Those scholars who conquer their feet this week shall next Friday have a share in a "basket pie, which will form our entertainment for that after-noon."

Imagine the open-eyed astonishment with which this announcement was received. A pie! Well, I had to explain its nature, and at this the astonishment and delight reached the climax. Of course, a little inspiration and reminding were needed occasionally, but never did I see seventy children control their feet so well.

The knots were carefully watched, and without any interference with work, the feet were guarded by the owners until the effort became perfectly unconscious, and when Friday came we had almost forgotten what noisy feet were. Moccasins seemed to have taken the place of sturdy cow-hides.

At last the eventful afternoon arrived, and as the children marched softly in, expectancy and pleasure mingled with a goodly amount of curiosity, seemed written on every face, for on a chair in the middle of the platform I had placed a large peach basket gaily adorned without, with a yellow covering, and

containing about sixty-five little parcels neatly

wrapped up in paper.

One of our teachers, who was greatly interested in the efforts of the little people, had added to my store of pleasure a parcel of fruit, which was subdivided into a great many and the store of pleasure. divided into a great many small ones.

After all work was finished, the time arrived for the opening of the "pie," but before this was done a little introductory recitation was given by one of the scholars.

Then the cover was removed, and one by one the children were blindfolded, led up to the basket and invited to take one parcel, whichever they touched

How the eyes sparkled and danced I cannot tell, but this I can say, that the idea was not a failure. A week's habit is not easily lost if the class is properly organized, and by other special entertainments on Fridays, a control was gained over those feet that has never since lost its power.

Objection may be taken to this plan for steadying the restless feet, but let me say that while rewarding the strongest and best efforts in this way, the fact that they were doing right for its own sake, and because they wished to, was never lost sight of. In addition to this, it tended to promote a kindly and friendly spirit between teacher and scholars, without which we know the proper spirit can never be The knots do not bother us obtained in a class. much now; the floor has more of a carpet-like textture, and the "pie" is not forgotten.

CHRISTMAS THOUGHTS.

ARNOLD ALCOTT.

THE approaching festive season is already electrifying many hearts, and none more so than those of the children.

Surely there must be something woefully wrong in him whose soul cannot blend in unison with the grand old refrain, "Glory to God in the highest,

Now the entrance to this happy path is opened by the golden key, "Love," for did not God give His "unspeakable gift" because He "so loved the world.

Unselfishness and genuine kindness, begetting activity of heart and hand, are the virtues which are especially significant at this time of the year. Suppose we try to apply this truth to our schoolwork. First, let us look to ourselves. trite saying, "Be, and then you'll see." There is a

How can we be most lovely and loving towards our pupils? Methinks I hear the answer from old Santa Claus, "Get a child-like heart along with your own calm mind." "Be enthusiastic." "Be sympathetic." "Be a 'jolly good fellow." So I take this advice from a company of the child state of the company of the child state of the company of the child state of the child take this advice from our good old friend, and I ask myself this question: "What would my little folks like?" Or better, I ask them, and perhaps I direct the tendency of their thoughts towards decorations.

DECORATIONS.

What shall be the new Christmas dress for "Our Room"? Of course we want some nice matters Of course we want some nice mottoes, such as Welcome, A Merry Christmas, A Happy New Year, Glory to God in the Highest

These may be drawn on the blackboard, or, if time be too short or work too pressing, an excellent substitute is the use of stencils. Again, variety may be introduced by cutting out the letters from colored pasteboard or from white pasteboard, with stars or colored circles placed thereon. Or, one may get several yards of bright red flannel for the background and trace the letters on this, then cut out from white cotton wool the letters and sew on, or cut out circles of the wool and sew these on so as

to form the letters. The effect is very pretty.
Of course Santa Claus comes to "good little girls" and to "good little boys," therefore we should have his picture with the reindeer, holly and mis-

tletoe, drawn on the blackboard.

Again, considering the welfare of our classes, it we utilize the thoughts which are exercising "our little friends" just now, we shall have wonderful material for language lessons.

LANGUAGE LESSONS.

1st. We may show how to write a letter; and what child will not be highly delighted and pleased to write to dear old Santa Claus. Just think how the imagination is being developed and expanded.

2nd. We ought to try to surprise our pupils, and

therefore, if we have not used it before, we may try this plan. Take two words pronounced alike but spelled differently. Someone suggests "Claus' and "Claws." These will do very nicely, indeed. Get a piece of cardboard about two inches wide and ten inches long. On one print in red "Claus"; on the other, in blue, "Claws."

Show number one and get a sentence with this word in it—orally, in baby classes; in writing, in those classes which are sufficiently advanced to be

able to write sentences.

In a similar manner proceed with number two. You will find this little device awaken enthusiasm, Work," we might get our pupils to print sets of words on cardboard which they have cut the size.

This is industrial education.
3rd. We may develop the imaginative and descrptive powers by getting our children to tell im-

promptu stories.

The teacher says—"Santa Claus and a little boy five years old." Then she explains that from what she has said she wants to hear a story. So she calls on a pupil who relates his little thoughts. And we hear the little boy name what he wants in

his stocking, and so forth. And we are not surprised to find our little scholar telling the reindeer to "come along," or to hear him saying, "Hurrah! Santa Claus brought me a pair of skates." For the more unconscious he is the better the story. course, children learn much by imitation, so the teacher ought to tell her story.

4th. Give many Christmas songs, gems and stories to your pupils, and especially tell them the "old, old story" of the "Bright Morning Star."

Also, we may teach a good lesson in MORALIS.

By getting the beautiful thoughts of our children expressed in kind actions, viz., by talking to them about the poor, sick, little folks, and so leading our pupils to remember them.

If we endeavor to live up to our privileges we will work harder than ever at this time, and so will gladden the end of the old year, because we will prove that we are thankful that we live.

THE Kindergarten system is extending to all parts of this Province. this Province. Teachers who qualify for this department are quickly engaged, and still the demand is for more workers. This increased use of the system remore workers. This increased use of the system requires a corresponding increase of supplies, with which to entertain and instruct the little people. To meet this demand Selby & Co., of Toronto, specialists in the manufacture of these supplies, are constantly employed in producing everything new and valuable: besides which they are agents for the celebrated Milton Bradley Company, makers of the latest improved lines of these goods. See advt. in this copy of the JOURNAL.

THE new English-French Readers, for use in schools THE new English-Flench Readers, for use in schools in localities where French only is spoken, are now issued by the publishers, The Copp, Clark Co., Toronto. The books comprise First (2 parts), Second and Third Readers, and are satisfactory productions in all respects. They are authorized by the Department—the chieft being to introduce the compulsory study of the object being to introduce the compulsory study of English even in those schools where it is not the ver-

DR. ERNEST HALL, *

Nose, Throat, Eye and Ear.

29 Avenue Street (College Avenue), Toronto, Ont.

CLINE'S PORTABLE Foot Heater



TEN HOURS SOLID COMFORT FOR TWO CENTS.

Invaluable for use in all sorts of vehicles, in the household and in stores and offices. Now is the time to send in your orders.

The FUEL used in our heaters is a black compound, perfectly harmless, without smoke, odorless and entirely safe in handling.

THE CLINE MANUFACTURING COMPANY.

28 Front Street West, Toronto.

Agents Wanted Send for Circulars.

Glubbing Affers

Last year a large number of our subscribers clubbed

THE COTTAGE HEARTH"

and other publications with THE EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL. We are prepared to continue the arrangement for 1890, and repeat last year's announcement:

We will give THE EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL and THE COTTAGE HEARTH for \$2.00 a year.

New subscribers may send \$2.00 and get the two papers to the end of 1890. All present subscribers to the JOURNAL may participate in this advantage at the same rate. Observe the following rule:—Enclose 60 cents on account of The Cottage Hearth, and add 12 cents a month for every month between the date to which subscription is now paid (see address label) and 31st December, 1890. For example, a subscriber paid to 1st July, 1889, would send \$2.76, and have JOURNAL credited 18 months, and Cottage Hearth, 12 months, both to end of 1890; a subscriber paid to 1st January, 1890, would send \$1.32, for 6 months of JOURNAL and 12 months of Cottage Hearth, and so on. Subscribers to EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL in Association Clubs may subtract 25 cents in sending a full year's subscription.

AT Those who desire to see The Cottage Hearth before accepting this offer, may secure a sample copy free by sending a post card to THE COTTAGE HEARTH CO., 11 Bromfield Street, Boston, Mass., U.S.

We offer the following clubbing rates for 1890:

The first column is the full price for the two, and the second col-thnn our clubbing price for the two.

Educational	Journal &	Cottage Hearth,	\$3.00	\$2.00
**	- 64	The Century,	5.50	5.00
66 -	6.6	Ca Milabala		
44	"	St. Nicholas,	4.50	4.00
		Harpers' Magazine,	5.50	4.50
4.6	66	" Bazar,	5.50	4.50
66	66	The West-L. Cl. 1	3.50	
"	66	The Weekly Globe,	2.50	2.25
		The Weekly Mail,	2.50	2.25

Old or new subscribers to EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL in Teachers' Association Clubs, may subtract 25 cents from second column items in sending for full year of JOURNAL.

In Consequence of a Notification

That another establishment had secured the exclusive handling of the special sets of the works of

Charles Dickens and Sir Walter Scott,

the offer of those works as premiums with THE EDU-CATIONAL JOURNAL is hereby WITHDRAWN.

On Presentation of Certificates, the

CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY.

. . . WILL ISSUE . . .

Round-Trip Tickets

FARE AND A THIRD

... TO ...

PUPILS AND TEACHERS

Of Schools and Colleges.

For Further Particulars see Company's Agent in your town.

FLINT NORMAL COLLEGE, FLINT, Mich.

Expenses less than at any school in Michigan. Unsurpassed location. You can enter at any time and classes are formed to suit you. Thirteen courses of study, No vacation. Send for circulars and catalogue. G. S. KIMBALL, Pres

LADÌES

Can buy their Toilet Requisites by mail and secure city selection at less than country prices. The list embraces Perfumes, Powders, Cosmetics, Ladies' and Infants Brushes, Combs, Infant Sets, Manicure Sets, Covering Bottles, Fine Soaps and Rubber Goods, also Bath and Sick Room Supplies. Send for catalogue and note discounts. Correspondence solicited. All goods guaranteed. STUART W JOHNSTON, 287 King Street West, corner John Street, Toronto.

ACENTS WANTED-

Of Good Character and address, who will canvass closely for a work of rare excellence, entitled **The Home Beyond**, a splendid book, peculiarly adapted for general canvass, easy to sell. Liberal commission. For particulars and territory apply,

British American Publishing Company,

14 Imperial Bank Building, Toronto.

TEACHERS

Can recoup themselves for the outgo at holiday time by Canvassing during the Xmas Vacation for the

TEMPERANCE AND GENERAL LIFE ASSURANCE CO

And those needing Insurance cannot do a better thing than take a policy in this Company—say an Instalment BOND, one of the Best Plans of Life Insurance extant; definite cash surrender values after three premiums are paid.

Total Abstainers kept in a separate class, thereby getting much larger profits.

Hon. Geo. W. Ross,

H. O'HARA, Man. Director.

President.

22 to 28 King Street West,

TORONTO.

LITTELL'S LIVING AGE.

HEAD OFFICE-

In 1890 The Living Age enters upon its forty-seventh year. Approved in the outset by Judge Story, Chancelor Kent, President Adams, Historians Sparks, Prescott, Ticknor, Bancroft and many others, it has met with constant commendation and success.

A Weekly Magazine, it gives more than

Three and a Quarter Thousand

double-column octavo pages of reading matter yearly. It presents in an inexpensive form, considering its great amount of matter, with freshness, owing to its weekly issue, and with a completeness nowhere else attempted,

The Best Essays, Reviews, Criticisms, Tales, Sketches of Travel and Discovery, Poetry, Scientific, Biographical, Historical and Political Information, from the entire body of Foreign Periodical Literature, and from the pens of the

FOREMOST LIVING WRITERS.

The ableat and most cultivated intellects in every department of Literature, Science, Politics and Art, find expression in the periodical literature of Europe, especially of Great Britain.

The Living Age, forming four large volumes a year, furnishes, from the great and generally inaccessible mass of this literature, the only compilation that, while within the reach of all, is satisfactory in the completeness with which it embraces whatever is of immediate interest or of solid permanent value.

It is therefore indispensable to everyone who wishes to keep pace with the events or intellectual progress of the time, or to cultivate in himself or his family general intelligence and literary taste.

Published weekly at \$8.00 a year, free of postage.

Club Prices for the Best Home & Foreign Literature

Possessed of **The Living Age** and one or other of our vivacious American monthlies, a subscriber will find himse fin command of the whole situation,—Philadelphia Evening Bulletin.

For \$1.05 or **The Living Age** and any one of the American \$4.00 monthlies (or Harper's Week'n or Bazar) will be sent for a year, postpaid; or for \$0.50, **The Living Age** and Scribner's Magazine or the St. Nicholas.

LITTELL & CO., Boston.

SHORTHAND Writing thoroughly taught by mail or personally lituations procured all pupils when competent. end for circular. W. G. CHA FFEE, Oswego, N. Y.

NEW and CHEAP LITTLE BOOKS

REQUIRED BY EVERY TEACHER.

We ask attention to the Catalogue of Books and School Supplies recently issued with the EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL. In it will be found a large list of books for assistance or recreation especially valuable to the teacher. We select the following from the list :-

* BOOKS *

For Clubbing with " Educational Journal."

To Subscribers to EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL we will give the following special list of books at the low prices named :-

Little People's Speaker, 100 pages, attractively bound, well filled with motion songs, concert, holiday, temperance and patriotic pieces, suited to every occasion in which the little folks are called upon to take part. Paper, 15c.

Little People's Dialogues, 120 pages, handsome cover. This book is specially prepared for children's recitations, by Clara J. Denton. It is adapted to the most varied kinds of entertainments and exhibitions. Paper, 25c.

Humorous Dialogues and Dramas, handsome cover, contains a great variety of specially prepared selections, humorous, without being coarse. Paper, 25c.

Sunday School and Church Entertainments, hand-some cover, contains dialogues, tableaux, recitations, concert pieces, motion songs, and short dramas, illustrating Biblical truths. Paper, 25C.

Tableaux, Charades and Pantomimes. A first-class collection for various entertainments. Paper, 25c.

Jokes. A collection of the brightest, funniest and most catching jokes of the day. 150 pages; attractive cover. Paper, 25c.

Popular Synonyms. Twenty-five thousand words in ordinary use; accurate, elegant. cheap. Flexible cloth cover, 15c.

Words Correctly Spoken. A work valuable to all who desire accuracy of language. Cloth, 15c.

The following special list will be found attractive:

Wilford's Original Dialogues and Speeches for Young Folks.—Being by far the most complete of its kind ever issued. This work supplies that palpable need, which has so long been evident in books of this class, that of Dialogues and 55 speeches adapted to the natures of children. This work contains 19 original Dialogues and 53 Speeches, especially adapted for children between the ages of 5 and 12 years. 160 pages. Paper cover, price 25c.

Ritter's Book of Mock Trials.—An entirely novel idea. The trials are very amusing take-offs of actual scenes in court and daily life; containing sixteen complete trials—adapted to performance by amateurs or professionals. Paper cover, price 25c.

Rowton's Complete Debater.—Containing nine complete Debates, Outlines of Debates, and ro8 questions for Debate. The most perfect work of its kind published, and especially adapted to Literary and Debating Scieties. No person should be without this great literary work. We are sure that those who purchase copies will declare it well worth ten times the amount spent. Containing over 200 pages. Boards, price 50 cts.

Beale's Calisthenics & Light Gymnastics for Young Folks.—120 Illustrations from Life by Photographic Process. Containing Broom and Fan Drills, Marches, Fencing Club, Wand and Dumb Bell Exercises, Swimming and Music for marching. This is the most complete work published on the subject. 160 pages. Boards, 75 cts.

Burdett's Dutch Dialect Recitations and Readings.—This collection of amusing and laughable recitations embraces all the newest and most successful pieces, original and selected, with which the celebrated reader, James S. Burdett, invariably "brings down the house." Containing 94 original and selected gems of Humorous German dialect pieces in prose and poetry. 16mo, 160 pages. Price, paper 25 cts.

Brudder Gardner's Stump Speeches and Complex of the process.

Brudder Gardner's Stump Speeches and Comic Lectures.—Containing the best hits of the leading Negro delineators of the present day, comprising the most amusing and side-splitting contribution of oratorical effusions which have ever been produced to the public. The newest and best book of Negro comicalities published, 160 pages. Bound in illuminated paper covers. Price 25 cts.

Sent post-paid on receipt of price. Address

GRIP PRINTING & PUBLISHING CO.

26 & 28 Front St. West, Toronto.



Address TARBOX BROS., Toronto, Ont.



ELECTRICITY AHEAD!

There is nothing so desirable in the market as THE appliances, something **NEW**, which are operated by an ELECTRIC current and complete an ALARM CLOCK for ringing

Bells or Gongs in any number of rooms. It IS very simply arranged and is WHAT every school should have. WE WANT appliances of an advanced character and

scientific FOR OUR COLLEGES, of such a nature AND construction

that SCHOOLS GENERALLY may

find them an advantage in every respect. Will the Principals PLEASE give this matter their careful consideration

and SEND for our New Regulator A clock, fitted ready for

use, or let US put our appliances on the clock now in the school. ONE thing may, however, be AT least worthy of consideration, i.e., a first-class clock ONCE put in

order by us, is not likely to need any further special attention for a lifetime. Any number of Bells, Gongs, or Buzzers may be rung in as many different rooms, changed as often as may be desired for the convenience of the classes, by any person. We will furnish a first-class Regulator A, fitted with the Electric appliances, for Fifteen Dollars, or lower grade clocks at less cost, any of which are good time-keepers. Or we will fit a clock which may be in use, for Five Dollars. All communications addressed to the tions addressed to the

AMERICAN CLOCK AND JEWELRY CO.

171 YONGE STREET, TORONTO, ONT.

P.S.—We can refer you to first-class electricians if you want anything in this line.

TEACHERS' INSTITUTES.

MR. LEWIS, author of works on Reading and Elocution, gives Addresses to Institutes on the Methods of Teaching Reading on Elocution Principles. Nights of Reading from Classic English Literature, and, when required, the Plays of Shakespeare. References to Dr. McLellan and J. I. Tilley, Esq., and Inspectors, Teachers and Clergy throughout the Province. 42 BREAD-ALBANE STREET, TORONTO.

TEACHERS AND STUDENTS may have all their book wants promptly attended to, either in the new or used line, and at reasonable terms, by addressing

Frank Porter, 353 Yonge St. (SUCCESSOR TO DAVID BOYLE.)

Books to any part of the Dominion, for Inspectors, Teachers and Students, mailed or expressed daily.

CYCLOSTYLE DUPLICATING APPARATUS

For Duplicating Writing, Typewriting, Drawing or Music.

"Two thousand exact copies from one writing," each copy having all the appearance of an original. Simple, reliable, economical, rapid, clean and durable. Endorsed by 3,000 firms, corporations and institutions throughout the Dominion. Invaluable to teachers for reports, circulars, examination papers, copying music, maps, drawings and all classical work. Write for circular and testimonials. T. Bennett Scott, Esq., Teacher, Wheatly, Ont., writes—"The Cyclostyle machine purchased gives entire satisfaction."

I. B. Beveridge, Prip. Public School, Point Edward, writes—"Cyclostyle received gives every satisfaction—it works like a charm."

CYCLOSTYLE CO., 16 KING ST. EAST, TORONTO.

BARKER'S SHORTHAND SCHOOL, 45, 47 and 49 King Street East, Toronto.

grag to Circulars post free.



save money
time, trouble, pain,
and CURE
Catarrh or
Dyspepsia
by using

our remedy. Sent to any address free of charge on receipt of price. Address, Remedy Co., 170 King Street West, Toronto.

SPECIAL TO TEACHERS. WORK FOR VACATION.

The Canadian Mutual Aid Association

(ASSESSMENT SYSTEM).

POPULAR AND COMMON SENSE SYSTEM OF LIFE INSURANCE.

Large Reserve Fund as guarantee. Return of profits to members every ten years. For particulars address the head office

No. 10 King Street East, Toronto. Agents wanted. W. P. PAGE, Manager.

WOODSTOCK * COLLEGE.

(FOUNDED 1860.)

FOR BOYS AND YOUNG MEN.

Will Re-Open September 4, 1889.

TEACHING STAFF:

W. H. Huston, M.A. (late English Master in Toronto Collegiate Institute and formerly Principal of Pickering College), the Bible, Mental and Moral Science, and Senior English. N. Wolverton, B.A. (First-Class Honor Man of the University of Toronto), Manual Training and Mathematics. J. I. Bates, M.A., Ph.M. (just Staishing a year's study abroad), Classics. D. K. Clarke, B.A. (First-Class Honor Man in the University of Toronto), Modern Languages. N. S. McKechnie, B.A., English. Thomas P. Hall, M.A., Ph.D. (late Fellow in University College, Toronto), the Sciences and Drawing. H. S. Robertson, B.A. (First-Class Honor Man of the University of Toronto), Preparatory Work and Junior Mathematics.

NOTICE TO STUDENTS PREPARING FOR EXAMINATION.

Young men wishing to attend a school affording a thorough course of training for the various teachers' examinations and for matriculation with honors into any Canadian university, will find at Woodstock College examinations and for matriculation with honors into any Canadian university, will find at Woodstock College every possible advantage. The College is conducted on what are admittedly sound educational principles. There are no marking system, no prizes, no medals, and no long lists of rules and regulations. Students Are TRUSTED, and if unworthy of trust they are not allowed to remain. There are a library (3,500 volumes), two literary societies, two reading rooms, a gymnasium, and large grounds (30 acres), permitting every desirable kind of out-door recreation.

ADDITIONAL ADVANTAGES OFFERED TO STUDENTS.

There are no Large Dormitories. The first 80 students admitted will occupy single rooms, the others will be allowed single beds in double rooms. There is a large workshop, furnished with a ten-horse-power engine and expensive machinery. Students intending to teach will be enabled to see Manual Training as advocated by the "New Education," and to avail themselves of all its advantages. The Equipment is Excellent. The additions to the buildings are now approaching completion. The enlargements, besides giving additional residential accommodation, add six new class rooms. A science class room and three laboratories (supplied with apparatus csiing \$3,000,00) have also been added. They are said to afford the best facilities for science study in Canada, outside the Universities. The Fees are Reasonable. By reason of a large endowment, the fees are placed at \$144 to \$147 per year—no extras. This is very reasonable.

YOUNG MEN THAT DO NOT INTEND TO WORK NEED NOT APPLY.

For further information address the Principal,

W. H. HUSTON, Woodstock, Ont.

ENTRANCE EXAMINATIONS

TC

High Schools and Collegiate Institutes.

The next Entrance Examination to High Schools and Collegiate Institutes will be held on December 18th, 19th, and 20th.

Examination papers will be set in Literature on passages from the following lessons in the authorized Fourth Reader:—

DECEMBER, 1889.

ı.	Clouds, Rains and Riverspp.	54- 59
2.	The Death of the Flowers	67 68
3.	Flow Gently, Sweet Afton	98
	Resignation"	105-106
5.	Lead, Kindly Light	145
ě.	Dora"	137-142
7.	The Heroes of the Long Sault "	155-161
8.	Lochinvar	169170
	A Christmas Carol"	207-211
ió.	The Heritage	212-213
H.	Song of the River	221
12.	Landing of the Pilgrims"	229-230
	Edinburgh after Flodden"	277281
14.	National Morality	295-297
-4.	The Forsaken Merman "	298—302
- 3.	and a comment	-)-)

JULY, 1890.

2. "" "Second Reading." 68—71 3. To Mary in Heaven "97—98 4. Flow Gently, Sweet Afton "111—114 5. The Bell of Atri "111—114 6. Ring Out, Wild Bells "121—122 7. Lead Kindly Light "145 8. The Heroes of the Long Sault "155—161 9. Lochinvar "169—170 10. A Christmas Carol "207—211 11. The Heritage "212—213 12. Song of the River "212—213 13. The Ocean "247—249 14. The Song of the Shirt "263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep "266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden "277—281 17. Canada and the United States "289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman "298—302 At each examination candidates should be able to	1. The Vision of Mirza—First Readingpp.	6366
3. 10 Mary in Heaven. 97—96 4. Flow Gently, Sweet Afton. 98 5. The Bell of Atri 111—114 6. Ring Out, Wild Bells 121—122 7. Lead Kindly Light 145 8. The Heroes of the Long Sault 155—161 9. Lochinvar. 169—170 10. A Christmas Carol 207—211 11. The Heritage 212—213 12. Song of the River 221 13. The Ocean 2247—249 14. The Song of the Shirt 263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep 266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden 277—281 17. Canada and the United States 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman 298—302	2. " " " Second Reading."	68— 71
4. Flow Gently, Sweet Afton. "98 5. The Bell of Atri "111-114 6. Ring Out, Wild Bells "121-122 7. Lead Kindly Light "145 8. The Heroes of the Long Sault 155-161 9. Lochinvar "169-170 10. A Christmas Carol "207-211 11. The Heritage "212-213 12. Song of the River "221 13. The Ocean "247-249 14. The Song of the Shirt "263-265 15. The Demon of the Deep "266-271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden "277-281 17. Canada and the United States "289-291 18. The Forsaken Merman "298-302	3. To Mary in Heaven	97 98
5. The Bell of Atri. "111—114 6. Ring Out, Wild Bells "121—122 7. Lead Kindly Light "145 8. The Heroes of the Long Sault "155—161 9. Lochinvar "169—170 10. A Christmas Carol "207—211 11. The Heritage "212—213 12. Song of the River "211—213 13. The Ocean "247—249 14. The Song of the Shirt "263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep "266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden "277—281 17. Canada and the United States "289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman "298—302	4. Flow Gently, Sweet Afton	98
7. Lead Kindly Light. " 145 8. The Heroes of the Long Sault " 155—161 9. Lochinvar. " 169—170 10. A Christmas Carol " 207—211 11. The Heritage " 212—213 12. Song of the River " 221 13. The Ocean " 247—249 14. The Song of the Shirt " 263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep " 266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden " 277—281 17. Canada and the United States " 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman " 298—302	5. The Bell of Atri	111-114
7. Lead Kindly Light. " 145 8. The Heroes of the Long Sault " 155—161 9. Lochinvar. " 169—170 10. A Christmas Carol " 207—211 11. The Heritage " 212—213 12. Song of the River " 221 13. The Ocean " 247—249 14. The Song of the Shirt " 263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep " 266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden " 277—281 17. Canada and the United States " 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman " 298—302	6. Ring Out, Wild Bells "	121-122
8. The Heroes of the Long Sault. " 155—161 9. Lochinvar. " 169—170 10. A Christmas Carol " 207—211 11. The Heritage " 212—213 12. Song of the River " 221 13. The Ocean " 247—249 14. The Song of the Shirt " 263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep " 266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden " 277—281 17. Canada and the United States " 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman " 298—302	7. Lead Kindly Light "	145
10. A Christmas Carol	8. The Heroes of the Long Sault	155—161
10. A Christmas Carol " 207—211 11. The Heritage " 212—213 12. Song of the River " 221 13. The Ocean " 247—249 14. The Song of the Shirt " 263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep " 266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden " 277—281 17. Canada and the United States " 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman " 298—302	g. Lochinvar	169—170
11. The Heritage " 212—213 12. Song of the River " 221 13. The Ocean " 247—249 14. The Song of the Shirt " 263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep " 266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden " 277—281 17. Canada and the United States " 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman " 298—302	10. A Christmas Carol	
13. The Ocean " 247—249 14. The Song of the Shirt " 263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep " 266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden " 277—281 17. Canada and the United States " 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman " 298—302	II. The Heritage "	212-213
14. The Song of the Shirt. " 263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep. " 266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden " 277—281 17. Canada and the United States " 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman " 298—302	12. Song of the River	221
14. The Song of the Shirt. " 263—265 15. The Demon of the Deep. " 266—271 16. Edinburgh after Flodden. " 277—281 17. Canada and the United States " 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman. " 298—302	13. The Ocean	247249
15. The Demon of the Deep	14. The Song of the Shirt	263-265
16. Edinburgh after Flodden		266—271
17. Canada and the United States 289—291 18. The Forsaken Merman 298—302	16. Edinburgh after Flodden	
18. The Forsaken Merman " 298—302	17. Canada and the United States "	
	18. The Forsaken Merman	
	At each examination candidates should b	

At each examination candidates should be able to quote any part of the selections especially prescribed for memorization, as well as passages of special beauty from the prescribed literature selections. They will be expected to have memorized all of the following selections:

ı.	The Short Extracts (List given of	on page 8.)
2.	I'll Find a Way or Make Itpp.	. 22
-	The Bells of Shandon	51 52
7	To Mary in Heaven	02- 08
Ē.	Ring Out, Wild Bells	121—122
6.	Lady Clare	128-130
7.	Lead. Kindly Light	145
8.	Before Sedan	
0.	The Three Fishers	199
٦,	Riding Together	220
10	Riding Together	231-232
11.	Edinburgh after Flodden	277—281
12.	The Forsaken Merman	207-302
-		,, J

DRAWING.—Drawing Book, No. 5, of the Drawing Course for Public Schools. Pupils may present their school work in Drawing in any blank exercise book, so long as it covers the prescribed course, and no discrimination will be made in favor of work contained in the authorized drawing book.

AGRICULTURE AND TEMPERANCE. — Papers will be set in these as optional bonus subjects. A candidate may choose which of them he will take, but it is not compulsory to take either, and he cannot take both. Marks not exceeding 75 may be added for the subject chosen. (Reg. 38).

TIME TABLE OF THE EXAMINATION, DECEMBER, 1889.

FIRST DAY.

9.00 to 11 a.m	Grammar.
11.15 a.m. to 12.30 p.m	Geography.
2.00 to 3.30 p.m	History.
SECOND DAY.	
g.00 to 11.00 a.m	Arithmetic.
11.05 to 12.15 p.m	Drawing.
1,15 to 3.15 p.m	: Composition.
3.25 to 4.00 p.m	Dictation.
THIRD DAY.	
g.00 to 11.00 a.m	Literature.
11,10 to 11.40 a.m	Writing.
1.30 to 3.00 p.mTemperance	e and Hygiene, or
Agriculture.	

Reading to be taken on the above days at such hours as may suit the convenience of the examiners.

ALEX. MARLING,

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT, TORONTO, August, 1889. Secretary.

WOMAN'S



Medical College,

TORONTO, - ONTARIO.

In affiliation with the University of Trinity College.

For full information regarding graduation, prizes, fees, etc., and for copies of the annual announcement, apply to D. J. GIBB WISHART, Sec.

30 Carlton Street. Toront

WATERMAN FOUNTAIN PEN!

Best in the World. Send for Circular.

GEO. BENGOUGH.

CANADIAN AGENT, 45 KING ST. EAST, TORONTO.

SELBY & CO.

32½ Church Street,

Toronto,

IMPORTERS AND MANUFACTURERS OF

Kindergarten Goods.

AGENTS IN CANADA FOR THE

MILTON BRADLEY COMPANY,

The Celebrated United States Makers of

KINDERCARTEN MATERIALS

Estimates given for the complete furnishing of Kinder gartens. Correspondence invited.

VANNEVAR & CO. BOOKSELLERS AND STATIONERS.

Dealers in the books required by TEACHERS:—The Text Books required or TRAINING INSTITUTES, COLLEGES and HIGH SCHOOLS, and for PUBLIC and PRIVATE SCHOOLS.

Save time, save worry, save disappointment, save money by sending your orders direct to us.

VANNEVAR & CO., 440 YONGE ST., opp. CARLTON ST., TORONTO.

WALL MAPS FOR SCHOOLS.

The most accurate and best series of wall maps published. Drawn and engraved by the eminent geographer, J. BARTHOLOMEW F.R.G.S., Edinburgh. Mounted on Strong Cloth, with Rollers, clearly Colored and Varnished.

											•		
								1	REGI	LAR		R	EGULAR
10.							S	IZE.	PRI	ICE.	NO.	SIZE.	PRICE.
1.	Railway	Map of	Ontari	0,	•	43 1	v	33 inche	s S	3 00	10. Africa.	67 by 52 inches	
	Ontario,		-	٠.			bv			4 50	11. British Islands		
3.	Quebec,	-					bv				12. Australia and New Zealand.	67 by 52	4 50
	New Br				-	•				4 50		07 by 52	4 50
			n :	T. 1	. .	67	by			4 50	13. Palestine,	67 by 52 **	4 50
Ž.	MOVA 30	ona and	Prince	Lawai	rd Island,	07	by			4 50	14. The World in Hemispheres,	67 by 52 "	4 50
	North A			-	-	67	by .			4 50	15. The World on Mercator's Projection.	67 by 52 *	4 50
7.	South A	merica,			•	67	bν	52 "		4 50	16. United States.	81 by 52 "	6 00
8.	Europe,	•				67	hv	F2 "		4 50	17. The Dominion of Canada		
	Asia.				_	67					17. 2110 Dominion of Canada,	80 by 49 🦠 '	6 50
7.	٠.						۳,	3 -	_	4 50			

To any Teacher or Board of Trustees subscribing for THE EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL at \$1.50, we will send one or more of the above maps, each at \$1.50 less than the Regular Price.

This is an opportunity that should not be neglected. Supply your school at once with First-Class Maps at wholesale rates. In ordering Dictionaries or Maps please give your nearest express office. Address,

EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL, Grip Office, Toronto.

GHE.

Provident Life and Live Stock Association,

CHIEF OFFICE :-

Room D, Arcade, TORONTO, Canada,

Is the one that gives the best benefits to its members and pays the agents well. It is to your interest to send for Prospectus, Claims Paid, etc.

Agents required in unrepresented districts. Address,

WILLIAM JONES,

Managing Director.

WHERE AND HOW TO GET YOUR

STANDARD DICTIONARY!

The Regulations of the Education Department (approved August 25, 1885), No. 23 (f), read as follows:

"Every School should have, at least, a Standard Dictionary and a Gazetteer."

We make Teachers and Boards of Trustees the following offers:-

Concise Imperial, best binding, - - \$5.50 Webster's Unabridged, full bound, - 11.50 Lippincott's Gazetteer, full bound, - - 11.50

Together with one year's subscription to THE EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL in every case

THE GRIP PRINTING & PUBLISHING CO.

26 & 28 FRONT STREET WEST, TORONTO,

W. J. GAGE & COMPANY'S

* Special List of Remainders. *

As in Many Cases only One Copy of each Work is in Stock, Orders should be Placed Early.

	40>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Regular Offered	Regular Offered	D1 0463
The Familiar Outstations Series of Barba	Price et	Regular Offered Price, at
The Familiar Quotations Series of Books—	Anniversary Gems. An original and choice collection	Bohn's Select Library. Cloth—
A Handy Dictionary of Mythology. For everyday readers. By Thomas Preston\$0 35 0 20	of sacred music. One hundred and fourteen beautiful tunes, compiled, adapted and partly composed by	Moliere. Complete as above
Pible Liutis with Shakesbearian Paralleis. Roll R.		1 aust 1 art 1. Complete as above
Seiklik. Sixth edition 0 35 I 20	Song Evangel. Words and music. One hundred and twelve sacred songs set to beautiful tunes, admirably	Life of Thomas Brassey. Complete as above
The Secretary's Assistant and Correspondent's Guide. Giving the most correct modes of superscription.	adapted for evangelistic and home use. Compiled by	
commencement and conclusion of letters to persons	J. Durnnam 0 50 0 30	of Idiom and Usage. Seventh edition
OI EVERY GEGREE Of rank, with much similar informs.	Cameron's frew and improved 1 liter for the Planeterie.	
tion. Fifteenth edition 0 35 0 20 A Dictionary of Daily Blunders. Containing a col-	Containing fifteen expositions on the first rudiments of music. Written by William Mitchison. And a selec-	
le tion of mistakes often made in speaking and	1 tion of popular tunes, comprising patriotic airs.	Carlyle's Oliver Cromwell's Letters and Speeches. With elucidations. Three volumes, strongly bound in
writing, corrected from the best authorities and	marches, Irish airs, Scottish airs, Italian operas, dance	Citti. Each
arranged in alphabetical order 0 25 0 20	music, etc	Carryle's rast and riescut
A Dictionary of English Proverbs and Proverbal Phrases. With a copious index of prin ip I words.	C, Coley, M.D	Carlyle's Heroes, Hero Worship and the Heroic in History. Six lectures report d, with emendations
Selected and arranged by the author of A Liction-	I he reads companion in the Sick Moom. By Mary	and additions
ary of Daily Blunders	Davies. Simple remedies for relief in the early cases	Conkin s riandy Manual of Oseini Information. Con-
DeQuincy. Describing in eloquent and impassioned	of sickness, or slight treatment for small ailments o 35 o 20 The Early Training of Children. By Mrs. Frank Mal-	taining a million facts. A universal hand-book for
language the splendor of the dreams supervening	leson. Notes dedicated to the happiness of children, 0 35 0 20	ready reference
from the use of the Magic Drug and the throes of	our warnor Princes. The Four Edwards and the War	Frank Malleson. Third edition 0 35 0 15
mental agony succeeding these blissful visions 0 35 0 20 The Lady's Manual. An aid to improving and beautify-	of the Roses. By Roscoe Mongan. Seventeen full- page illustrations. "Deeds of Daring "Library 0 35 0 20	The Domestic World. A practical guide in all the daily difficulties of the higher branches of domestic
ing the human figure. Hints for the to let and how to	page illustrations. "Deeds of Daring "Library 0 35 0 20 My Uncle Barbasson. By Mario Uchard. Translated	and social economy. By the author of "Francisco
improve the complexion, hair, eyes, teeth, hands, feet. o 50 o 25	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Within upon Everything. Revised edition
The Young Lady's Book of Amusement. Comprising merry games, diversions, plays, conundrums, rid-	his Turkish harem bequeathed to his nephew in Paris, and duly chronicled by the latter 0 50 0 30	
die s, puzzies, charades, foretelling the future, tricks,		Bart, Commander John Good, R. N., and one Um
ana grams, etc. Also beautiful poetry, humorous	the northern part of Arkansas. Illustrated 0 50 0 20	and discoveries in company with Sir Henry Curtis Bart, Commander John Good, R.N., and one Um slopogaas. By H. Rider Haggard The Dusantes. A sequel to The Casting Away of March 15
anecdotes, sparks of wit, etc o 50 o 30 The Golden Receipt Book, or Information for all classes	and Geo. B. Heckel Illustrated	The Dusantes. A sequel to The Casting Away of Mrs.
of persons, and indispensable, especially for the sick.	Monarchs I have Met. By W. Beatty-Kingston, Com- mander of the Imperial Order of the Medjidieh and of the Royal Orders of the Patents.	Lecks and Mrs. Aleshine. By Frank R. Stockton o 35 o 15 Madame Delphine. Carancio and Grande Pointe. By George Cable. Authorical and Grande Pointe.
the receipts for such being most valuable. Various	mander of the Imperial Order of the Medjidieh and of	
useful directions, applicable to farmers, tradesmen, shopkeepers, housewives, etc. By the celebrated A.	Knight of the Imperial Order of Francis Towns	Andrew Cummics, DV William II. Howelle Auch ".
W. Chase, M.D., of Michigan, America 0 50 0 30		edition. Two volumes
The Sick Man's Employ, or consolation in affliction.	with the Crown, etc., etc. Illustrated	Avoided. By a Member of the Ar stocracy. Four-
adversity, bereavement and death, to which are added devotional exercises for the afflicted, and a sermon on		teenth edition. Entirely re-written, with additions 0 00 0 50
the important journey from this world to the next By John Fawcett, D.D	Representative Men. English trait. By Ralph Waldo Emerson	Don't. Directions for avoiding improprieties in conduct and common errors in speech. By Censor. 0 so 0 10 Why Smoke and Drink. By James Parton 0 20 0 10
By John Fawcett, D.D 0 35 0 20 The Temperance Speaker, or the Good Templar's Re-	The Emperor Frederick III. and the Crown Prince.	Why Smoke and Drink. By James Parton 0 20 0 10
citer. Comprising speeches, readings, dialogues.	With biographical notices of the Empress Victoria and	Plays for Home Performance. By John Maddison Morton, author of Box and Cox, etc 0 50 0 30
citer. Comprising speeches, readings, dialogues, anecdotes, narrations, etc. By Professor Duncan.	Frince Dismarck. Twelve illustrations 0 25 0 20 1	Keadings for Winter Gatherings, Temperance and
First series	mage, the celebrated American divine delivered in	Mothers' Meetings. Edited by Rev. James Fleming,
Of most interesting and instructive subjects, scientific,	Drooklyn Labernacle from February 8th to May 24th	B.D o 50 o 30 Grammar Land, or Grammar in Fun for the Children.
historical, witty and humorous, adapted for evening	1885	By M. L. N. Illustrated 0 50 0 20
parties and social gatherings. By Professor Duncan. Second series. 0 35 0 20	All Chyulfy into the consec and extent of all all all all all all all all all al	Rogel's Thesaurus of English Words and Phrases. Classified and arranged so as to facilitate the expres-
The Sunday School Speaker of Reciter. Comprising		sion of ideas and assist in literary composition. By
select and interesting moral and sacred pieces and dialogues in prose and poetry, adapted for recitation.		Peter Mark Roger M D F R S. New edition.
By W. Nicholson	The Cronin Mystery, A complete history of the murder and the quarrel in the Brotherhood. By an ex-	enlarged and improved 2 00 1 50 Bits about America. By John Strathesk. Cloth, illus-
The Sabbath School Reciter. Comprising th ice and	member	
in eresting moral and sacred pieces in prose and poetry, adapted for recitation. By W. Nicholson o 35 o 20	moral that points to coming difficulty need a	adventures in the Band Cost. Travels and
The Gospel Preacher, or Outlines of Sermons. For the		adventures in the Banda Oriental, South America. By W. H. Hudson. One volume. 1 50 0 90 Forty-Seven Identifications of the Banda Oriental, South America.
use of young ministers and occasional preachers. By	read. A dramatized version would find immense	
some eminent divines		the Lost House of Israel Paris to a control of the Lost House of Israel Paris to the Israel Paris to the Lost House of Israel Paris to the Israel Pari
and principles, illust ated by anecdotes, incidents and quotations from the works of the most eminent writers	making and money spending. By smart men of busi-	Scripture proofs. By Edward Hine
on Sunday School matters. Edited by James Cowper	ness and eminent thinkers in the literary and political world	Cucumber Chronicles. A book to be taken in slices. By J. Ashby-Sterry. Cloth, illustrated Homes of Old English Writers. By the Description of 50
Gray 1 25 A 75	wealth and want. A social experiment made and des-	Homes of Old English Writers. By the Rev. S. W.
The Useful Concordance of the Holy Scriptures. Com-	cribed by H. Broadhurst, Esq. Edited by Rev.	Rambles in Sweden. A series of letters from Sweden. 1 25 0 75
prising most of the references which are really needed, By W. Nicholson	George Masterman 0 20 0 10 Invalid Cookery. By Mary Davies. Help in the way	a newspaper in America, by Sidney W. Cooper, United
By W. Nicholson	of recipes for tasty little dishes wherewith to tempt	States Consul at Goth-nburg
Sunday schools, etc., and to assist and interest in- structors of the young and other persons, comprising	One Hundred and One Methods of Cooking Poultry.	Ciotii
descriptions of towns, cities, temples, villages, seas,	DY AURI Union. With hints on selection trussing	
mountains, deserts, plains, trees, flowers, etc., men-		Buxton, M.P 0 35 0 20
tioned in the sacred Scriptures, explanations of num- erous passages of Scripture. The work is divided	The Curry Cook's Assistant, or, Curries: How to Make them in their Original Style. By Daniel Santiagoe, Cevlon Tea House Wester V.	Imperial Federation. By the Marquis of Lorne 0 35 0 20 Disestablishment. By Henry Richard, M.P., and J.
into chanters and warres in order to be read in classes	Ceylon Tea House Waiter, Liverpeol and Glasgow	Carvell Williams, M.P 0 35 0 20
alternately, like the B ble. By W. Nicholson 0 75 0 40	Exhibitions	Leasehold Enfranchisement. By Henry Broadhurs, M.P., and Robert T. Reid, M.P. Dethroning Shelpsspaare. A selection of letters contributed to the Daily Telegraph, with the preliminary editorial papers. Edited, with notes and comments, by R. M. Theohald.
The Grammar of the English Language Made Easy. With numerous practical exercises in orthography,	How to Debate. With hints on public speaking. A	Dethroning Shekespeare. A selection of letters contri-
etymology, syntax and prosody, also derivation com-	manual for mutual improvement societies 0 10 0 05	editorial papers. Edited, with notes and comments
prising Anglo-Saxon or English, Latin and Greek	How to Do Business. A pocket manual of practical affairs and guide to success in life, and a dictionary	by R. M. Theobald 0 00 0 25
affixes and prefixes, and very comprehensive lists of English words derived from the Anglo-Saxon, Latin,	of commercial terms 0 20 0 10	by R. M. Theobald
Greek and French languages, amounting to nearly	The Gentleman's Letter Writer. Examples in appro-	Hallam's Constitutional History of F-1-1 75 0 75
ro,000 words. By W. Nicholson	Printe lankuage of letters on business, triendship, love	
Beecher and over twenty other divines. Parents.	and marriage, etc., etc	with addendum—the Essay of Lord Macaulay on Hallam's Constitutional History of England 1 75 0 5
pastors. Hible students and Sunday school workers	The Ladies' Letter Writer	A Martyr to Mammon. By L. Baldwin 75 0 5
will find in these outlines many valuable hints and suggestions. Edited by Rev. W. F. Crafts. Third	Cooke's Universal Lettter Writer 0 20 0 10	
edition o so o so l	Ine Victoria Register Edical base and a vitable.	Time. by Joseph Lawton, with illustrations
Do., abridged		
hody's neighbor. By John Habberton, suitor of	mi m u	with large map. By J. H. DeRicci
	A Catechism of the History of England C. Miles 0 20 0 10	English Misrule in Ireland—1171 to 1887. By Arthur J. Dadson
Children's Hosannas. Anniversary music, old and new notation. By John Burnham 0 30 0 20		Home Kille and the Irish Onestion D. A. D
20 0 20]	language for the use of young persons 0 10 3	Hon. Joseph Chamberlain, M.P o 50 0 25
	•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

ANY OF THE ABOVE BOOKS SENT POST-PAID ON RECEIPT OF THE REDUCED PRICE.

MR. HUGH JOHNSTON,

- - ARTIST, - -

College of Physicians, Toronto.

Who is always pleased to have friends and patrons visit his studio, will be glad to see those who can favor him during the holidays. To GENTLEMEN TEACHERS and others who have extra spare time, Mr. Johnston promises to make it interesting and PROFITABLE. Forget it not.

- FOR -

School Supplies

- - WRITE TO -- -

E. N. MOYER.

120 Yonge St., Toronto.

N.B.—Our Prices are Low, Our Goods the Best.

HOME STUDY. LATIN and GREEK at sight. Use Catalogue of School Books free. C. DESILVER & SONS, No. L.L. 1102 Walnut Street, Philadelphia, Pa.

100 LESSONS IN ENGLISH * COMPOSITION.

Modern.

Practical.

Thorough.

Methodical.

A New Book, by a Practical Teacher, for use fin Composition Classes in the Public and High Schools of Canada.

This book contains 100 leseach lesson consisting of four exercises, and being composed on the average of eight (camples. There are thus within its covers our 3,200 questions for class work. The exercises are properly graded for use in the Public Schools and in the junior forms of the High Schools.

ONE HUNDRED LESSONS IN COMPOSITION

Is having a rapid sale in both Canada and the United States. In many schools the book has been adopted as a text, and the testimony of such schools is that it is unsurpassed as a time-saver, rendering unnecessary any preparation of exercises by the teacher or any dictation of work to the class.

For Variety, Interest, Practicality and Method the book is unsurpassed. Its author, W. H. HUSTON, M.A., Principal of Woodstock College (lately First English Master Toronto Collegiate Institute), and editor of the English Column of the EDUCATIONAL JOURNAL, is widely known as a teacher of experience.

PRICE ONLY 25 CENTS.

Send your order to the publishers and receive the book, po paid, by return mail. Address,

ting and Publishing Co., Publishers, Grip FRONT STREET WEST, TORONTO.

TEACHERS' BUREAU.

A Special Discount on Books to all its Members 120 YONGE STREET, TORONTO.

)RACTICAL PROBLEMS"

ARITHMETIC.

FOR FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD CLASSES.

By James White, Public School Teacher,

EDMONTON. - ONT.

This book is now ready for delivery. It contains nearly 700 Practical Problems in Arithmetic for the three lowest forms, and will supply the teacher with questions at once interesting and useful. The problems are properly graded for the separate classes, and answers are given in the appendix.

Board and Linen Covers—Price, post-paid, Only 25 cts. ADDRESS,

Grip Printing and Publishing Company, PUBLISHERS,

28 Front Street West,

Toronto.

TEACHERS WANTED—To canvass for Dr. Gunn's New and Improved Handbook on Anatomy, Hygiene and Domestic Medicine. This is a large work of 700 pages. Part I. is devoted to the structure of the body, "How do we Live?" "What Shall we Eat?" etc. Part II. treats on a great many diseases, their symptoms and remedies. Dr. Gunn's name will almost sell it. We give liberal terms to canvassers. Send for Circulars. Address, J. B. Young & Co., 42 Yonge Street Arcade, Toronto, Ont. Please mention this paper.

ENCYCLOPEDIAS.

ZELL'S NEW (Imperial Edition) Takes Front Rank.—E. N. OYER, Publisher, 120 Yonge Street, Toronto. AGENTS WANTED.

"PUBLIC SCHOOL TEMPERANCE."

The attention of teachers is respectfully called to this new work, designed for use in the public schools. It is placed on the programme of studies under the new registration of the Minister Tamilla. lations, and is authorized by the Minister. It will be used in three forms. The object of the book is to impart to our youth information concerning the properties and effects of alcohol, with a view to impressing them with the danger and the needlessness of its use.

The author of the work is the celebrated Dr. Richardson, of England; and this book, though somewhat less bulky, being printed in smaller type, contains the whole of the matter of the English edition, slightly rearranged as t' some of the chapters, to suit the requirements of our ablic school work. It is, however, but half the

price of the English edition.

the subject is treated in a strictly scientific manner, the celebrated author, than whom there is no better authority on this subject, using the researches of a lifetime in setting forth the facts of which the book discourses. At the same time the style is exceedingly simple; the lessons are short and accompanied by appropriate ques tions, and the language is adapted to the comprehension of all who may be required to use the book. Price 25 cents, at all bookstores.

The Grip Printing and Publishing Co. PUBLISHERS, TORONTO.

The Canadian Office and School Furniture Co., Limited, Successors to W. STAHLSCHMIDT & Co

Manufacturers of Office, School, Church and Lodge Furniture



PATENTED JANUARY 14TH, 1886.

The School Desks of this Company cannot be excelled for Strength, Beauty of Design, Adaptability and Comfort to the Scholar. Send for Circulars.

24 Front St. West, Toronto. Factories at Preston, Ont.

BUSINESS CENTRAL COLLEGE,

STRATFORD, ONT.



The Very Best Business Training School in Canada.

Pronounced by Students, Graduates, School Teachers, and Business Men to be "the Model" of Commercial

Write for our catalogue and journal, containing full particulars.

W. H. SHAW, Principal.

Special Offers.

We will send The Educational Journal three months and Ayres' Verbalist and Orthoepist, postpaid, for \$1.00.

We will send The Educational Journal four months and Williams' Composition and Practical English,

postpaid, for \$1.00.
We will send The Educational Journal one year and Ayres' Verbalist and Orthoepist, postpaid, for \$2.00.
We will send The Educational Journal one year and Williams' Composition and Practical English, postpaid, for \$2.00.

paid, for \$2.00.

e will send The Educational Journal one year and

Worcester's Dictionary (Full Sheep), for \$9.50.
We will send The Educational Journal one year and the Concise Imperial Dictionary (best binding), for \$5.50. We will send The Educational Journal one year and

Webster's Dictionary (Full Sheep), for \$11.50.
We will send The Educational Journal one year and

Lippincott's Gazetteer (Full Sheep), for \$11.50.

The Educational Journal.

PERFECTION."



The above cut shows the design of the Perfection Buttonless Football as it is registered in Great Britain, and represents to the fullest degree perfection in shape, perfection in workmanship, perfection in the material used in its manufacture, and perfection in finish.

Mr. John McDowall, Secretary to the Scottish Football Association, says:—Have used the Perfection Football in the final cup tie, Dumbarton vs. Hibernians, and international match, Scotland vs. Ireland, and find it embodies all that its name denotes, simply "Perfection."

PRICES FOR FOOTBALLS COMPLETE.

PRICES FOR FOOTBALLS COMPLETE.

Sizes—No. 1, No. 2.
20 in.
22 in.
25 in.

"
"Queen's Park 2 15
Chrome Buttonless 2 55
Inflators, Brass Piston, The LittlejWonder, 6octs.; large size, \$1 50
Rubber Cement, 30c. box.
"Football, and how to Play it." 15 cts.
The above covers are all the celebrated McKechnie make, made of hand wrought leather of the very best (specially prepared) quality, and filled with McIntosh's TESTED rubbers of best quality, \$TAMPED.
Beware of those who pretend to control the trade in buttonlesss balls.
We would especially direct attention to the new Inflator, "The Little Wonder," No club should be without one at this price.

Any article in above list mailed frre to any address in Dominion of Canada or United States on RECEIPT OF PRICE. With each complete Ball we send free a copy of "Football, and how to Play it Successfully," by a Kicker. Send money by P.O. order or registered letter. We guarantee the best value for the money to be had in Canada. Address

LUMSDEN & WILSON.

LUMSDEN & WILSON.

Importers Football Goods, etc., SEAFORTH, ONT.